

# LUND UNIVERSITY

#### Modelling and evaluation of the effects of traffic safety measures Comparative analysis of driving assistance systems and road infrastructure

Lu, Meng

2007

#### Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Lu, M. (2007). Modelling and evaluation of the effects of traffic safety measures Comparative analysis of driving assistance systems and road infrastructure. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Transport and Roads]. Lunds Tekniska Högskola Institutionen för Teknik och Samhälle Trafik och Väg.

Total number of authors: 1

#### General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
   You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

#### LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

# Modelling and evaluation of the effects of traffic safety measures

Comparative analysis of driving assistance systems and road infrastructure

Meng Lu

#### Doctoral thesis

Bulletin 235 Lunds Tekniska Högskola Institutionen för Teknik och Samhälle Trafik och Väg ISBN 978-91-628-7145-1 ISSN 1653-1930

# Meng Lu

Modelling and evaluation of the effects of traffic safety measures Comparative analysis of driving assistance systems and road infrastructure 2007

*Keywords*: road traffic safety, road infrastructure, driving assistance systems, traffic safety principle, quantitative causal chain, QCC model, comparative analysis, grey relational analysis, GRA

Abstract: Improvement of road traffic safety is an important policy issue. Various categories of measures are available to effectuate this. The thesis focuses on two categories: road infrastructure and driving assistance systems. A relevant policy question is if certain driving assistance systems may be desirable substitutes for infrastructure measures, in terms of traffic safety effects and other relevant aspects. The objective of this thesis is to develop an analytical method for comparative analysis of the traffic safety effects of these measures with dissimilar nature, as well as to identify an adequate method for policy evaluation, and to design, based on this method, an approach for strategic evaluation of alternative implementation schemes of different measures, which can take into account the results from the comparative analysis method and/or other method(s) concerning traffic safety effects, and other relevant impacts and constraints. For this comparative analysis and evaluation the following research topics are formulated: (1) identification of the functional substitutability relationships between driving assistance systems and infrastructure measures; (2) modelling of the fundamental schema of the influence of a measure on road traffic safety; (3) design of a method for comparative analysis of measures of different character; and (4) elaboration of a systematic analytical framework for linking decision making at the aggregated global level concerning overall effects of alternatives in a network, and decision making focusing at the local level concerning traffic safety effects of one or several measures at an intersection or road section. Through identification of a benchmark, i.e. a comprehensive set of traffic safety principles, and related operational traffic safety requirements, the functional substitutability relationships between these two categories of measures are qualified. In addition, a quantitative causal chain (QCC) model is developed based on a breakdown of the causal chain between measures and traffic safety effects. Based on the QCC model, a method for comparative analysis is derived for assessing safety performance at a local level. Furthermore, the thesis elaborates a systematic analytical framework for policy evaluation, and proposes a normalisation based evaluation method, named grey relational analysis (GRA), to aggregate data at the global level. Application of GRA provides a clear-cut ranking of strategic alternatives for improving traffic safety.

*Citation*: Meng Lu. Modelling and evaluation of the effects of traffic safety measures - Comparative analysis of driving assistance systems and road infrastructure. 2007. Bulletin (Lunds Tekniska Högskola, Institutionen för Teknik och Samhälle, Trafik och Väg) 235

Trafik och Väg Institutionen för Teknik och Samhälle Lunds Tekniska Högskola Lunds Universitet Box 118, 22100 Lund, Sverige Traffic Engineering Department of Technology and Society Lund Institute of Technology Lund University Box 118, SE-22100 Lund, Sweden

# Preface

This thesis has been completed with the very kind and valuable help and support of a number of people. Especially important was my stay at Lund University in the final stage of my thesis work, where I met friendly and supportive new colleagues. I particularly appreciate the open and truly academic atmosphere, with a sense of equality, at the division of Traffic Engineering of the Department of Technology and Society at the Lund Institute of Technology, as well as the discussions with distinguished experts in the field that were enabled through my stay at Lund.

First of all I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my first supervisor Prof. András Várhelyi who guided me to the end of this PhD journey. I highly appreciate his enthusiasm and his excellent knowledge of the research area. Especially, I would like to thank him for being a sparring-partner in valuable and inspiring discussions on the topic of my research, for being always available when I needed his input, and for providing such inputs in a very thorough way. Furthermore, I would like to give a special word of thanks to my second supervisor Prof. Christer Hydén who has been enthusiastically supportive, together with András, in providing me the opportunity to finalise and defend my thesis at Lund University. The friendliness, openness and humour of my supervisors as well as the other colleagues have made that I have much enjoyed my stay at Lund University, and consider it as the best part of the period of my doctoral research. In addition, I owe much gratitude to the distinguished members of the final seminar committee, Prof. Risto Kulmala, Dr. Rune Elvik, Prof. Stein Johannessen and my supervisors (again), for their critical and constructive comments and invaluable suggestions.

I would like to thank everyone who contributed directly or indirectly to my research. I specially thank Dr. Rune Elvik (again), Prof. Kuei-Hsiang Cheng, Prof. Julong Deng, Prof. Renkuan Guo, Theo Janssen, Dr. Evangelos Bekiaris, Prof. Hugo Priemus, Prof. Henk van Zuylen, Prof. Serge Hoogendoorn, Prof. Piet Bovy, Prof. Andrew Hale, Tom Heijer, Dr. Sverker Almqvist, Dr. Ralf Risser, Dr. Åsa Thelander, Emeli Adell, Dr. Karin Brundell-Freij, Dr. Edwin Buitelaar and Jan van Nuys for their valuable help and support in terms of having interesting and fruitful discussions, providing detailed information on relevant research subjects, giving high quality PhD courses, solving administrative issues and dealing with obstacles during the past years.

This research is partly sponsored by NWO/Connekt (Dutch National Science Foundation/ITS Netherlands), Radboud University Nijmegen and the EU funded IN-SAFETY (INfrastructure and SAFETY) project (FP6). Also, I would like to thank TRAIL (Transport, Infrastructure and Logistics) Research School for providing valuable PhD programmes, and the Dutch Institute for Road Safety Research (SWOV) for providing data for road safety evaluation.

Last but certainly not least, a special word of thanks to my husband Kees Wevers for providing substantial support to my PhD research. Without his help and commitment I could not have finished this thesis, as an important part of the start of my new life in The Netherlands.

Meng Lu

Utrecht (The Netherlands) and Lund (Sweden), March 2007

# 獻給我的父母: 盧潤江 和 胡佩瓊

To my parents: Runjiang Lu and Peiqiong Hu

Acquisition of a PhD title is an important milestone in an academic career. However, honesty, openness, fairness, justice and equality are more important, and essential prerequisites for a good result.

# Table of contents

N	otati	on of variables	i		
	Not	ation related to causal chain	i		
	Not	ation related to grey system	ii		
A	cron	yms	iii		
G	lossa	ıry	v		
Li	st of	Publications	vii		
1	Intr	oduction	1		
	1.1	Road traffic safety measures	1		
	1.2	Road traffic safety factors and measures	3		
	1.3	Policies for road traffic safety	5		
	1.4	Motivation and research problem definition	10		
2	Obj	ective, scope and research questions	12		
	2.1	Research objective	12		
	2.2	Research scope and limitations	12		
	2.3	Research questions	13		
3	Res	earch method	16		
	3.1	Introduction	16		
	3.2	Benchmark for assessing functional substitutability of traffic safety measures	16		
3.3 Quantitative causal chain (QCC) model					
3.4 Comparative method for safety performance assessment					
3.5 Framework for policy evaluation based on grey relational analysis (GRA)					
	3.6	Thesis structure	18		
4	Fun	ctional match of infrastructure and driving assistance measures	20		
4.1 Functional substitutability					
	4.2	Traffic safety principles and operational requirements	20		
	4.3	Functional match of infrastructure measures and driving assistance systems	21		
5	Mo	del for safety performance assessment	24		
	5.1	Methods for studying safety performance	24		
		5.1.1 Introduction	24		
		5.1.2 Methods to study safety effects of infrastructure measures	24		
		5.1.3 Methods to study safety effects of driving assistance systems	25		
	5.2	The causal chain between traffic safety measures and effects	26		
	5.3	Exploring a quantitative model for the causal chain	26		
		5.3.1 Traffic safety factors			
		5.3.2 Traine safety determinants	28		
,	C	5.5.5 The quantitative causal chain model	28		
6	Cor	nparative analysis of traffic safety measures	31		
	6.I	Introduction	31		

	6.2	2 Method for comparative analysis based on the QCC model						
	6.3	3 Illustration of the method for comparative analysis						
		6.3.1	Risk and consequence influence coefficient estimation	33				
		6.3.2	Value ranges for the measure effect coefficient	34				
		6.3.3	Example of safety effects estimation: driving assistance and roundabout	34				
7	Frai	neworl	c for policy evaluation	39				
	7.1	Introd	uction	39				
	7.2	2 Evaluation process						
	7.3	7.3 Evaluation methods						
		7.3.1	Categories of evaluation methods	39				
		7.3.2	Requirements for the method to evaluate traffic safety measures	40				
	7.4	Grey s	system theory and grey relational analysis	41				
		7.4.1	Grey system theory and methods	41				
		7.4.2	Introduction of the GRA evaluation method	41				
	7.5	GRA	algorithm	42				
	7.6	GRA	application steps	44				
	7.7	Illustr	ation of the application of GRA	44				
8 Discussion				47				
8.1 Thesis contribution				47				
		8.1.1	Scientific contribution	47				
		8.1.2	Practical relevance	47				
	8.2	Discu	ssion of the research method and further research	48				
		8.2.1	QCC model and derived method	48				
		8.2.2	Policy evaluation based on GRA	49				
	8.3	Concl	usion and final remark	50				
		8.3.1	Functional substitutability relationships of traffic safety measures	50				
		8.3.2	Modelling and evaluation of traffic safety measures	50				
9	Ref	erences	5	52				
Appendix 1 - GRA calculation procedure for the example of Paper IV				58				
A	Appendix 2 - GRA calculation procedure for the example of Paper V							

# Notation of variables

# Notation related to causal chain

$TS_{\mathrm{P}}$	traffic safety in terms of probability
R	accident risk
$R_y$	accident risk R related to determinant y
С	accident consequence
$C_{yj}$	accident consequence <i>C</i> related to determinant <i>y</i> of type <i>j</i> (e.g. $j = 1,2,3,4$ , representing four types of consequence: fatality, hospitalisation, slight injury and property damage-only)
$\psi_y$	determinant ( $y = 1, 2, 3, 4, 5$ )
$\psi_1$	velocity of an individual vehicle as compared to the legal speed limit or the safe speed limit, and to the logical driving direction (vehicle in this context means motor vehicle)
$\psi_2$	velocity differences of road users, vehicle-vehicle or vehicle-VRU (vulner-able road user)
Ψ3	conflict between different traffic modes, especially between vehicle and VRU, in mixed traffic situations, or between vehicle and another object, such as a parked vehicle, an animal (domestic or wild), or a fixed roadside object
$\psi_4$	single vehicle run-off road
$\psi_5$	multi-vehicle conflict, e.g. rear-end (i.e. head-rear), head-on (i.e. frontal), head-side, side-side or pile-up
$m_q$	traffic safety measure q
$\mathcal{E}_{qy}$	measure effect coefficient: relative total effect of measure $q$ on determinant $y$
$\alpha_y$	risk influence coefficient: relative effect of determinant $y$ on accident risk $R$ related to determinant $y$
$\beta_{yj}$	direct consequence influence coefficient: relative direct effect of determinant $y$ on consequence $C$ of type $j$
$\mu_{yj}$	indirect consequence influence coefficient: relative direct effect of risk related to determinant $y$ on type $j$ consequence
$\eta_{qyj}$	partial consequence effectiveness index: overall relative effect of measure $q$ on consequence of type $j$ through determinant $y$
$ ho_{qy}$	partial risk effectiveness index: relative effect of measure $q$ on risk through determinant $y$
$H_{qj}$	consequence effectiveness index: total relative effect of measure $q$ on consequence of type $j$
$P_q$	risk effectiveness index: total relative effect of measure $q$ on risk $R$

$E_{\mathrm{D}j}$	absolute effect of a measure (or set of measures) based on road infrastructure on consequence of type $\boldsymbol{j}$
E <sub>Aj</sub>	absolute effect of a measure (or set of measures) based on driving assistance systems on consequence of type $j$
E <sub>D</sub>	absolute effect of a measure (or set of measures) based on road infrastructure on risk
E <sub>A</sub>	absolute effect of a measure (or set of measures) based on driving assistance systems on risk

# Notation related to grey system

i	alternative
k	attribute
$x_0(k)$	element of the reference series for attribute $k$
$x_i(k)$	element of the compared series for attribute $k$
ζ	identification (or distinguishing) coefficient, $\zeta \in (0,1)$
$\gamma(x_0(k), x_i(k))$	grey relational coefficient of attribute $k$ for alternative $k$
$\Gamma_{0i}$	grey relational grade
W <sub>k</sub>	weight for attribute k

# Acronyms

ABS	Anti-lock Braking System
ACC	Adaptive Cruise Control
ADAS	Advanced Driver Assistance Systems
AHP	Analytic Hierarchy Process
CARE	Community database on Accidents on the Roads in Europe
CBA	Cost-Benefit Analysis
CEA	Cost-Effectiveness Analysis
COOPERS	CO-OPerative SystEms for Intelligent Road Safety
CVIS	Cooperative Vehicle Infrastructure Systems
DV	Duurzaam Veilig (in English literally "sustainably safe"; the actual mean- ing is "inherently safe")
DVI	Duurzaam Veilige Infrastructuur (in English literally "sustainably safe in- frastructure"; the actual meaning is "inherently safe infrastructure")
EC	European Community
eCall	emergency call
ELECTRE	ÉLimination Et Choix Traduisant la RÉalité method (in English: "elimina- tion and choice translating the reality")
ESC	Electronic Stability Control
EU	European Union
FC	Functional Road Class
FM	Frequency Modulation
GAM	Goals-Achievement Matrix
GDF	Geographic Data Files
GNP	Gross National Product
GRA	Grey Relational Analysis
GRS	Grey Relational Space
HMI	Human Machine Interface
ICT	Information & Communication Technology
IN-ARTE	Integration of Navigation and Anti-Collision for Rural Traffic Environment
IP	Integrated Project
ITS	Intelligent Transport Systems
lidar	light detection and ranging
MADM	Multiple Attribute Decision Making
MCA	Multi-Criteria Analysis

MCDA	Multi-Criteria (or Multiple Criteria) Decision Analysis
MCDM	Multi-Criteria Decision Making
NPV	Net Present Value
PBS	Planning Balance Sheet
PROMETHEE	Preference Ranking Organization METHod for Enrichment Evaluations
QCC	Quantitative Causal Chain
radar	radio detection and ranging
RDS	Radio Data System
SAW	Simple Additive Weighting
SWOV	Stichting Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek Verkeersveiligheid (Dutch Institute for Road Safety Research)
ТСТ	Traffic Conflict Technique
ТМС	Traffic Message Channel
TOPSIS	Technique for Order Preference by Similarity to Ideal Solution
VMS	Variable Message Sign
VRU	Vulnerable Road User

# Glossary

**accident** (road traffic accident) - unexpected and unintentional impact event that results in harm, between a road user and one or more other road user(s), object(s) and/or animal(s), and/or the road side

**accident consequence** - probability of a certain type of harm due to a road traffic accident per unit of exposure

accident risk - probability of an accident to occur per unit of exposure

**causal chain -** set of successive cause and effect relationships between elements of a process; the concept is used in road traffic safety to describe the interactions through which a measure influences road traffic safety

**collision** (road traffic collision) - unexpected and unintentional impact event that results in harm, between a road user and one or more other road user(s) and/or (stationary or moving) object(s)

**collision avoidance** - in-vehicle system function for detection of obstacles in the most likely path of the vehicle; calculation of the likelihood of a collision with a detected object based on object position and velocity, and vehicle position and speed; and, based on a threshold value for the time to collision, taking control of the vehicle if the driver fails to adequately react to the threat of the imminent impact, by braking or evasive manoeuvring; for evasive manoeuvring complete knowledge of the environment around the vehicle is required, especially of other nearby objects; the function may be combined with collision mitigation and/or collision warning

**collision mitigation -** in-vehicle system function for detection of obstacles in the most likely path of the vehicle; calculation of the likelihood of a collision with a detected object based on object position and velocity, and vehicle position and speed; and, based on a threshold value for the time to collision, triggering actions to mitigate the consequence of the imminent impact, such as pre-tensioning of seatbelts or timely activation of air bags; the function leaves the driver in complete control of the vehicle; the function may be combined with collision warning

**collision warning** - in-vehicle system function for detection of obstacles in the most likely path of the vehicle; calculation of the likelihood of a collision with a detected object based on object position and velocity, and vehicle position and speed; and provision of a warning to the driver based on a threshold value for the time to collision; the function leaves the driver in complete control of the vehicle

**conflict** - potentially unsafe event that requires an evasive action or manoeuvre, such as braking, swerving or accelerating, to avoid a collision; in this thesis, two classes of conflict are distinguished: multi-vehicle rear-end (i.e. head-rear), head-on (i.e. frontal), head-side, sideside and pile-up conflicts; and vehicle-VRU (vulnerable road user) conflicts, such as vehicle with pedestrian and bicyclist

crash (road traffic crash) - violent road traffic accident

**driving assistance systems** - collective name for a range of in-vehicle systems based on ICT (Information & Communication Technology) and sensor technology, intended to assist drivers with their driving task, thereby enhancing driving comfort and driver performance, improving driver and traffic safety, and increasing driving efficiency and road network capacity; also called Advanced Driver Assistance Systems (ADAS)

**exposure** (road traffic exposure) - measure for the amount of involvement in an activity to which a probability of certain types of harm is associated

**harm** - physical injury or material damage; in the context of this thesis e.g. fatality, hospitalisation, slight injury or property damage-only

**intersection collision avoidance** - in-vehicle system function for avoiding collisions at intersections by providing warning to the driver or taking temporary control of the vehicle, and based on processing of information about position and movement of other vehicles and VRUs (vulnerable road users), using either radar, lidar and/or computer vision based sensing, or cooperative exchange of vehicle positions and movements using short-range communication, or a combination of these technologies

**intersection negotiation** - in-vehicle system function for regulating motor vehicle traffic at intersections based on cooperative exchange of vehicle positions and movements using short-range communication, and assuming presence of such systems in all participating vehicles; the function may be extended for use by all road users

**road traffic** - interaction between humans, vehicles and road infrastructure, subject to legislation and traffic regulations

**telematics -** provision of information and services, via wireless communications, to and from vehicles and their occupants

**vulnerable road user (VRU)** - every person taking part in road traffic who is not a driver or a passenger of a motor vehicle; the term especially pertains to pedestrians, bicyclists and moped drivers, but also to drivers of four wheel mopeds, drivers of carriages for disabled persons, equestrians, persons guiding horse or cattle, coachmen and persons using hand carts

# **List of Publications**

I Lu, M., Wevers, K., Bekiaris, E. (2006). Traffic safety principles and physical road infrastructure measures. In Proceedings: *19th ICTCT Workshop* (International Cooperation on Theories and Concepts in Traffic safety), Minsk.

This study was designed by Meng Lu, and accomplished by Meng Lu together with Kees Wevers. Evangelos Bekiaris provided substantial support and valuable comments to the study.

II Lu, M., Wevers, K., Van der Heijden, R. (2005). Technical feasibility of advanced driver assistance systems (ADAS) for road traffic safety. *Transportation Planning and Technol*ogy, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 167-187.

This study was initiated by Meng Lu and Kees Wevers. It was designed by the Meng Lu and accomplished by Meng Lu together with Kees Wevers.

- III Lu, M. (2006). Modelling the effects of road traffic safety measures. *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, vol. 38, no. 3, pp. 507-517.
- IV Lu, M., Van der Heijden, R., Wevers, K. (2004). Evaluation of road infrastructure redesign and ADAS applications for traffic safety. *Journal of Grey System*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 121-131.

This study was designed by Meng Lu, and accomplished by Meng Lu together with Kees Wevers.

V Lu, M., Wevers, K. (2007). Application of grey relational analysis for evaluating road traffic safety measures: advanced driver assistance systems against infrastructure redesign. *IET Intelligent Transport Systems*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 3-14.

This study was designed by Meng Lu, and accomplished by Meng Lu together with Kees Wevers.

# **1** Introduction

#### 1.1 Road traffic safety measures

Road traffic accidents are perceived as one of the major societal problems in the world. According to an estimate of the World Health Organization, 1.2 million people are killed and as many as 50 million injured in road accidents every year worldwide. Projections indicate that these figures will rise by about 65% over the next 20 years unless there is increased commitment to prevention (Peden et al., 2004). These accidents constitute a substantial cost for society in terms of medical costs, payments for sickness benefits, loss of labour capacity, material damage and increased traffic congestion. In the European Union (EU), in 2000, over 40,000 people died from road accidents and more than 1.7 million people were injured, and the costs of the consequences of road traffic accidents are estimated to be equivalent to 2% of the GNP (Gross National Product) of the EU (EC, 2001).

Road traffic is the interaction between humans, vehicles and road infrastructure, subject to legislation and traffic regulations (see Figure 1.1). In this process the human is a key element, but also the weakest link. In this thesis the view is taken that accidents can be caused by human error, mechanical defects and natural effects, that the latter two causes only provide a marginal contribution, and that, therefore, nearly all traffic accidents involve human error.



Figure 1.1 - Interaction between humans, vehicles and road infrastructure subject to legislation and regulations

Measures to counteract traffic accidents and to improve traffic safety can be classified as: (1) legislation and traffic regulation; (2) measures directly acting on driving behaviour; (3) road infrastructure related measures; and (4) vehicle related measures (see Figure 1.2). Although these measures aim at improving traffic safety by preventing or mitigating human error, their effectiveness is uncertain. This especially concerns measures that act through influencing the driver to drive adequately. Actual driver behaviour as a result of a traffic safety measure may be different from what is expected. Current knowledge is still too limited to understand all aspects of human behaviour in this interactive system. Traffic safety measures may sometimes also have adverse effects, despite good intentions (see e.g. (Elvik & Vaa, 2004)).



Figure 1.2 - Categorisation of road traffic safety measures

Road traffic related legislation and regulations provide a basic framework for the traffic system. The most prominent of these are the traffic regulations, which are primarily intended to reduce the number and severity of road traffic accidents and to make the traffic process in general orderly. But even drivers that have good knowledge of the traffic regulations may make mistakes. And drivers may also sometimes just ignore the regulations. In addition to the traffic regulations, other legislation and regulations are relevant for the traffic system, for instance, the legislation and regulations concerning the requirements for vehicle design.

Drivers are made aware of the traffic regulations by education and by government-initiated information campaigns. Traffic surveillance may be used to maintain a level of awareness of the traffic regulations, and to enforce improved compliance with these. Extensive enforcement may have a substantial effect (see e.g. (Hakkert et al., 2001)), but needs to be continuous to maintain the effect, as it is difficult to influence human behaviour in a sustainable way (see e.g. (Evans, 2004)). According to Evans (1991: p.156) there is "no convincing evidence that driver education, or increased driving skill and knowledge, increase safety". In addition, he states that "increased driving skill and knowledge are not the most important factors associated with avoiding traffic crashes. What is crucial is not how the driver *can* drive (driver performance), but how the driver *does* drive (driver behaviour)" (Evans, 1991: p.158). Driver performance to be interpreted as driver skills or competence.

The physical characteristics of the road network may contribute significantly to supporting drivers to adhere to the traffic regulations, as well as to assist them to avoid errors. Therefore, the design of the road infrastructure should be adapted to prevent unintended use of infrastructure, encounters at high differences in speed and direction, and uncertainty of road users (CROW, 1997). Infrastructure measures based on ICT (Information & Communication Technology) for increasing traffic efficiency (traffic management, e.g. by variable message signs - VMSs), protecting the environment (e.g. speed reduction) and speed limit enforcement (e.g. speed trap and trajectory control) may also contribute to traffic safety.

Vehicle related measures include passive components and active components. Passive components help to mitigate the consequences of accidents. Examples are vehicle structure, head restraint, seatbelt and airbag. Active components help to avoid accidents in critical situations, and include elements such as quality of tyres, hydraulic braking systems, electronic braking systems (anti-lock braking system - ABS), stability management systems (electronic stability control - ESC) and intelligent transport systems (ITS), and especially its subset of in-vehicle driving assistance systems<sup>1</sup> and telematics<sup>2</sup> applications. In this thesis telematics applications are included in the term driving assistance systems. Measures in this category support the driver with the driving task by providing (whenever necessary) information, warning or (temporary or permanent, and overrideable or non-overrideable) vehicle control, with the purpose of preventing accidents or mitigating the negative effects of accidents.

This thesis focuses on physical road infrastructure measures and driving assistance systems in support of road traffic safety.

#### **1.2** Road traffic safety factors and measures

From a statistics point of view, three basic traffic safety dimensions can be identified: (road traffic) exposure, accident risk and accident consequence (Rumar, 1988; Nilsson, 2004). Exposure can be defined as a measure for the amount of involvement in an activity to which a probability of certain types of harm is associated. For road traffic exposure different units of measure may be used, in relation to a certain period and a certain geographic area: (number of) inhabitants, registered vehicles, vehicle kilometres, road user kilometres, vehicle hours, road user hours, trips or traffic situations. Accident risk can be defined as a ratio expressing a number of accidents (all, or of a certain type) per unit of (a certain type of) exposure, for a certain period and a certain geographic area. Relevant types of accidents are distinguished based on the type (or severity) of harm, e.g. fatal accident (accident involving one or more fatalities, and possibly also one or more injuries), injury accident (accident involving one or more injuries), and property damage-only accident. Concerning injuries, a further distinction can be made between hospitalisations and slight injuries. Injury accidents include fatality accidents. In addition, injury only accidents can be distinguished. Accident consequence can be defined as the number of cases of a certain type of harm per accident, or a number of accidents, of a certain type, for a certain period and a certain geographic area. Multiplication of the three dimensions provides an absolute measure for the level of traffic safety, while multiplication of only accident risk and accident consequence provides a relative measure of traffic safety, per unit of exposure.

In this thesis accident risk is defined as the probability of an accident to occur per unit of exposure; and accident consequence is defined as the probability of a certain type of harm (e.g. fatality, hospitalisation, slight injury or property damage-only) due to a road traffic accident per unit of exposure.

Measures that may influence (and potentially decrease or increase the values of) these safety dimensions are presented in Table 1.1. The table indicates that, compared with accident risk

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Driving assistance systems is a collective name for a range of in-vehicle systems based on ICT and sensor technology, intended to assist drivers with their driving task, thereby enhancing driving comfort and driver performance, improving driver and traffic safety, and increasing driving efficiency and road network capacity. Another term is ADAS (Advanced Driver Assistance Systems), in which, however, the word "advanced" has become outdated.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The provision of information and services, via wireless communications, to and from vehicles and their occupants.

Table 1.1 - Overview of traffic safety measures and their possible influences on the three traffic safety dimensions<sup>3</sup> (adapted based on (Elvik et al., 1989; Ogden, 1996; Hummel, 2001; Elvik & Vaa, 2004; Evans, 2004; Lu, 2006))

road infrastructure related measures	exposure	risk	consequence
promote efficient land use (e.g. compact urban form)	+	0	0
provide efficient networks (e.g. short and direct trips)	+	0	0
promote alternative (non-motorised) modes	+	0	+
lower legal speed limit	0	+	+
roundabouts	0	+	+
intersection channelisation	0	+/_	+/_
elevations (e.g. speed bumps and humps, plateaux)	0	+	+/_
traffic calming measures	0	+	+/_
reduction of crossings	0	+	0
middle wire barrier on "2+1" carriageway	0	+	+/_
service roads	0	+	0
cancellation of pedestrian crossings	0	+	0
dedicated bicycle lanes	0	+/_	+/_
consistent markings and signing	0	+	0
semi-naved shoulders	0	+	+/_
rumble strips	0	+	.,
roadside safety structures	0	0	+
absence of narked vehicles	0	+	0
curve flattening	0	+/	0
road surface improvement	0	+/	
improved read illumination	0	1/— —	0/-
road widening	0	ー ー ー	0
Ioau widening	0	+/	0/-
venicie related measures	exposure	IISK	consequence
restraint systems (a succure	0	0	+
ADS (anti la al herbing granter)	0	0	+
ABS (anti-lock braking system)	0	+	0
ESC (electronic stability control)	0	+	0
eCall (emergency call)	0	0	+
navigation	+/	+/	0
lane keeping assistant	0	+	0
lane change assistant	0	+	0
collision warning	0	+	0
collision mitigation	0	+	+
(forward) collision avoidance	0	+	+
ACC (adaptive cruise control) with stop-and-go	0	+/_	0
adaptive light control	0	+	0
vision enhancement	0	+/	0
driver alertness monitoring	0	+	0
curve speed assistance	0	+	+
legal speed limit assistance	0	+	+
dangerous spots warning	0	+	0
intersection collision avoidance	0	+	+
intersection negotiation	0	+	+
autonomous driving	0	+	+
measures directly acting on driving behaviour	exposure	risk	consequence
traffic surveillance and enforcement	+/	+	+/0
information	+/	+	0
education	0	+	+
traffic management, e.g. road pricing	+/	+/	0
			. 1.

- negative effect • irrelevant relationship + positive effect (decrease of factor) (increase of factor)

(no or limited effect on factor)

<sup>3</sup> Exposure in this table refers to the unit of measure "vehicle kilometres".

and accident consequence, only a limited number of measures influence exposure. Whether a measure decreases or increases exposure is not unambiguous, as this may depend, to a considerable extent, on the behavioural adaptation of the human and on the time scale. From the statistics perspective, aggregated exposure is generally addressed. However, aggregated exposure over several functional road classes hides the fact that measures have different effects on risk level on different road classes<sup>4</sup>. It ignores the fact that, for instance, reduced exposure on roads of higher functional road class may increase the exposure on roads of lower class. This may have a negative influence on the outcome (e.g. number of fatalities or hospitalisations), due to differences in aggregate risk per road class. This may, therefore, increase aggregate (statistical) accident risk, although it does not necessarily change local accident risk (abstracting, in a first approximation, from factors that may actually influence local accident risk, like higher traffic density or behavioural adaptation).

Another issue is that, except for the navigation system (with TMC - Traffic Message Channel), the measures that may influence exposure generally operate at an overall level (network, or policy and spatial planning), and not at the elementary local level of individual measures (at road sections and intersections). For these reasons, this thesis addresses the two traffic safety dimensions accident risk and consequence.

#### **1.3** Policies for road traffic safety

Road traffic accidents only gradually became an issue of particular interest when the number of accidents progressively increased due to the steadily increasing number of motor vehicles and number of vehicle kilometres driven. Although the road safety records of The Netherlands, Sweden and the United Kingdom (UK) are amongst the best worldwide (see Table 1.2), the accident toll is still considered unacceptably high.

country	per 10 <sup>9</sup> vehicle-km	per 10 <sup>5</sup> inhabitants		
UK	7.3	5.9		
Sweden	8.4	6.7		
The Netherlands	8.5	6.8		
EU 15 member states (before 2004)	13.6	11.0		
USA	9.5	15.2		
Australia	10.1	9.5		
Japan	13.4	8.2		

Table 1.2 - Fatality	rates in 20	00 in severa	l developed	countries	(adapted	after	(Koornstra	et
al., 2002	2))							

Governments of these three countries have been applying a range of successive generations of different strategies for improving road safety since the 1950s. Although road traffic safety has been considerably improved over these years, it is nearly impossible to say to which extent this should be attributed to implementing these successive policies, and how much other autonomous factors have contributed to this effect. In The Netherlands several successive more or less distinct sets of measures of different character may be distinguished, each with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Functional road class (FC) is an attribute defined in the GDF (Geographic Data Files) standard (ISO, 2004). It provides a classification of roads based on the importance of the role that a particular road performs in the connectivity of the total road network.

an implementation cycle of about ten years (see Figure 1.3). Similar developments took place in Sweden and the UK (Koornstra et al., 2002). The need for such successive sets of measures can be partly explained from the economic law of diminishing marginal returns, which implies decreasing marginal effects of additional investments in a certain measure for improving road traffic safety beyond a certain level of implementation. In such a situation a new approach or a new technology may, however, bring further improvements in a more efficient and economical way (Lu et al., 2003). Another explaining factor is technological development itself, which creates an evolution of requirements for traffic safety measures and of possible solutions.



Figure 1.3 - Conceptual view on traffic safety policy development in The Netherlands (adapted after (Koornstra et al., 1992))

During the 1990s, authorities of various countries, notably The Netherlands, Sweden and the UK, have formulated ambitious policy targets with respect to traffic safety, and developed dedicated road safety programmes for reaching these targets. The EU has formulated its own ambitious targets in 2001.

#### **The Netherlands**

Since the early 1980s, traffic safety policy in The Netherlands focused on increasing longterm road safety by influencing behaviour, especially by addressing the issues of alcohol and speed, hazardous locations, safety of children and the elderly, and safety devices. Although this policy, which had a mainly reactive and curative character, was effective and overall reductions in road accidents were attained, analysis of accidents in relation to the type of road showed large discrepancies in fatal and serious injury accident rates on different road categories. Also, at the end of the 1980s the decrease in the number of fatalities and injuries slowed down. In reaction, in 1990 the SVV-II (1990) have set as a target for 2010 to reduce fatalities to 750 per year and hospitalisations to 14,000 per year (i.e. reductions of 50% and 40% respectively compared to the 1986 figures). This was followed in 1992 by a new concept for a proactive and preventive strategy combined with a continued and intensified focus on the original issues, constituting a new set of measures comprising four main elements: education, enforcement, infrastructure and ITS. This concept for road traffic safety was named Sustainably Safe (in Dutch "Duurzaam Veilig" - DV) (Koornstra et al., 1992). Road traffic may be considered as a system composed of four main elements: function, design, regulation and use<sup>5</sup>. Sustainably safe road traffic is in essence a systems approach of traffic safety which requires that these elements are made conformant with one another. Such conformity often does not exist, mainly due to historical reasons, and unintended road use often occurs (CROW, 1997). To increase traffic safety, both the design and the use of the road should be adapted to the following traffic safety principles (Koornstra et al., 1992): (1) prevent unintended use of the road infrastructure; (2) prevent indecisive behaviour of road users; and (3) prevent encounters at high differences in speed and direction. The concept of DV has a strong focus on road infrastructure related measures, which is implemented in a programme for a Sustainably Safe Infrastructure (in Dutch "Duurzaam Veilige Infrastructuur" - DVI). In the framework of DVI the aforementioned three principles were reformulated in 1997 (CROW, 1997) as: (1) functionality of the road network (i.e. clear functional road categories and related intended behaviour of road users); (2) predictable traffic behaviour (i.e. choice of route and necessary manoeuvres always and everywhere understandable and simple for all road users, making traffic behaviour more predictable); and (3) homogeneity of the traffic (i.e. small differences in speed and direction of movement, in mass and in vulnerability between road users, and between road users and obstacles). These principles led to a set of operational requirements (see also Chapter 4).

#### Sweden

In 1967 Sweden changed from left-side to right-side driving. To enable this drastic transition in a safe way, an intense package of safety measures was implemented, especially focusing on reconstruction of the road network and education, while for a certain period rather low speed limits were set. This eased public acceptance of other mandatory measures in the following fifteen years (such as use of front seat safety belts, use of helmets on motorcycles and mopeds and daylight running lights), and by the mid 1980s road traffic in Sweden was the safest in the world. Annual fatalities reduced from 1200 in 1975 to 700 in 1983. However, in the second half of the 1980s, parallel to a prosperous economy, and thereby expanding traffic, the number of fatalities increased to a level of 900 in 1989. After this, the situation again improved. The 1990 National Traffic Safety Programme set a target of less than 600 fatalities by 2000, which was already reached in 1994. Therefore, the 1994 National Traffic Safety Programme revised this target to less than 400 fatalities by 2000. However, in the period 1994 to 2000 the number of fatalities remained at the same level. In 1997 the government sent a plan to the parliament named "Transport for a sustainable development", which was adopted in June 1998. The plan focused on future societal sustainability of the traffic system, and implied a change in philosophy to improve traffic safety, and a long-term goal for the level of traffic safety to be achieved. It was accepted that the road traffic system cannot be perfect, and that humans will always make mistakes. Therefore, the focus shifted from trying to avoid mistakes to trying to reduce the consequences of mistakes. An important and perhaps the most well-known element of this plan was the Vision Zero: adequate measures should result in zero fatalities and zero serious injuries due to road traffic accidents. For this the design and functionality of the road traffic system should be changed, and both roads and vehicles should be made safer. The plan considered achievement of this goal as a shared responsibility of politicians, public road and other authorities (the owners of the road system), transport service providers, vehicle manufacturers and road users. The plan did, however, not include an operational translation, and no deadline was set for achieving the intended zero levels of fatalities and serious injuries, but it included an interim target, to reduce fatalities by 2007 to 300 (50% of the 1996 level). In 1999

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This definition is slightly different from the definition given on page 1, and especially focuses on the road infrastructure side.

the government presented a short-term plan comprising eleven action points<sup>6</sup>. Of these, two focus on infrastructure measures, and one on driving assistance systems. In 2001 the government presented an infrastructure plan to enable achievement of the 2007 target. (Tingvall, 1997; Vägverket, 1997; Elvik, 1999; Koornstra et al., 2002; Archer, 2005)

## UK

The UK has a long tradition of attention for traffic safety, and specific measures were often taken well before they were introduced in other countries. Examples are driving licenses and requirements for vehicle braking systems in 1903, and pedestrian crossings in 1934. In 1987 the government adopted a target to reduce fatalities and serious injuries to two thirds of the average 1981-1985 level, and introduced measures to achieve this goal. Especially the Traffic Calming Act of 1992 (UK Parliament, 1992), "An act to make provision about the carrying out on highways of works affecting the movement of vehicular and other traffic for the purposes of promoting safety and of preserving or improving the environment; and for connected purposes." The name of this act speaks for itself: it is about measures to reduce the amount and the speed of traffic. It especially refers to a range of infrastructure engineering measures focusing on the lower two road categories, distributor and especially local access roads, like speed humps, plateaux, roundabouts and road narrowing, and also includes the creation of living zones, a concept that originated in The Netherlands under the name woonerf. By 1998 reductions of 39% in fatalities and of 45% in serious casualties were achieved compared to the averages for the period of 1981 to 1985, but surprisingly slight injuries had increased by 16%. In March 2000 the UK government published a new strategy for improving road traffic safety in the document: "Tomorrow's roads - safer for everyone" (DETR, 2000). The strategy had a special focus on reducing the number of children killed or injured in road accidents. The targets comprised reductions by 2010 of 40% of persons and 50% of children killed or seriously injured in roads accidents, and of 10% of the slight injury rate (number of slight injuries per billion vehicle kilometres), as compared to the 1994-1998 averages. The document contains many specific recommendations, and also expresses the intention to review strategy and targets every three years. Proposed measures comprise ten themes (areas of concern and action): safer road use for children, safer drivers (concerning training and testing), safer drivers (concerning drink, drugs and drowsiness), safer infrastructure, safer speeds, safer vehicles, safer motorcycling, safer walking, cycling and horse riding, better enforcement of traffic law, and promotion of safer road use. For each of these themes specific actions are defined, with implementation time horizons, as well as points for special attention. (Koornstra et al., 2002; Ward et al., 2003)

## EU

In September 2001 the European Union (EU, then still named European Community - EC) published its white paper "European transport policy for 2010: time to decide" (EC, 2001). This document presents policies for a sustainable future development of the transport system in Europe considering all different modes. It resulted from awareness that the continuously increasing demand for mobility and the corresponding increasing chronic delays in the transport system due to insufficient capacity, with decreasing quality and increasing economic loss,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The eleven action points include: a focus on the most dangerous roads, safer traffic in built-up areas, emphasis on the responsibilities of road users, safe bicycle traffic, quality assurance in transport work, requirement for use of winter tyres, making better use of Swedish technology, responsibilities of road transport system designers, public responses to traffic violations, the role of voluntary organisations, and alternative forms of financing new roads.

cannot be solved by just building new infrastructure. It was understood that the transport system needs to be optimised to meet both growing demand and sustainable development. A modern transport system must be sustainable from an economic and societal as well as an environmental point of view. One of the issues specifically addressed in the document is road traffic safety. The price paid for mobility in terms of fatalities and injuries is considered far too high. In 2000 these were at levels of more than 40,000 fatalities and more than 1.7 million injuries per year in the EU (the 15 member states of the period before 2004), while the total number of people killed in road traffic accidents amounts to 1.64 million for the period 1970 to 2000. During the beginning of the 1990s, the yearly number of fatalities dropped significantly, but this decrease slowed down during the second half of the 1990s. It is concluded that transport by road is the most dangerous of all transport modes and the most costly in terms of human lives. In the 2001 white paper the target is set to reduce in the period 2000 to 2010 the number of fatalities by half. To achieve this objective, integrated action is needed taking account of human and technical factors. Although the EC has contributed before 1990 to road safety, especially through technical standardisation and by more than 50 directives, made possible by the creation of the internal market<sup>7</sup>, only after the Maastricht treaty of 1990 the EC was provided with certain explicit powers in the field of road safety, and with the legal means to introduce related measures. Despite this, even today the implementation of a proper pan-European road traffic safety policy and the related actions is difficult, especially because of the subsidiarity<sup>8</sup> principle. It is recognised that responsibility for taking measures to reach the target will be mainly in the domain of national and local authorities. The EC is expected to be able to contribute through action at two levels: harmonisation of penalties, and promotion of new technologies to improve road traffic safety. New technologies include in-vehicle systems to enhance control and enforcement, the black box to record accident parameters and induce motorists to drive more responsible, and intelligent transport systems and measures, especially in the field of active safety. Specifically mentioned are traffic management and collision avoidance, increased impact resistance of vehicles based on new materials and designs for improved structural integrity, improvement of the quality of tyres, safety standards for the design of car fronts to reduce impact on vulnerable road users (VRUs) in accidents, and methods to induce better compliance with (legal and optimum) speed limits (which will also contribute to reducing congestion and emissions). Except for the need to improve and harmonise road markings and road signs, and for the sentence "Certain technical measures, e.g. involving the safety of the infrastructure, call for major investments that Member States have thus far been dilatory in making.", infrastructure measures are not explicitly mentioned, in contrast with the programmes in the three aforementioned countries. The EC has contributed since the early 1990s significantly to the development of new technologies by its mechanism of EU funded projects<sup>9</sup>. Measures that are mentioned in the 2001 white paper include: (1) a road safety ac-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Examples are compulsory use of seatbelts, transport of dangerous goods, use of speed limitation devices in lorries, standardised driving licences and roadworthiness testing of all vehicles.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Under the principle of subsidiarity, in areas which do not fall within its exclusive competence the Union shall act only if and insofar as the objectives of the intended action cannot be sufficiently achieved by the Member States, either at central level or at regional and local level, but can rather, by reason of the scale or effects of the proposed action, be better achieved at Union level (Constitution for Europe, 2003: article 9, clause 3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Examples of related projects in recent years are the IN-ARTE project (Integration of Navigation and Anti-Collision for Rural Traffic Environment; 1998-2001) (Tango & Saroldi, 2001), the Integrated Project (IP) PRe-VENT (Preventive and Active Safety Applications; 2003-2007) (PReVENT Consortium, 2003), the SpeedAlert project (2004-2005) (Wevers & Lu, 2007), and the more recent IPs in the area of cooperative systems: CVIS (Cooperative Vehicle Infrastructure Systems; focusing on the infrastructure side and traffic efficiency) (CVIS Consortium, 2005) SAFESPOT (Co-operative Systems for Road Safety "Smart Vehicles on Smart Roads"; focusing on the in-vehicle side and traffic safety) (SAFESPOT Consortium, 2005) and COOPERS (CO-OPerative SystEms for Intelligent Road Safety; focussing on the domain of the road operator) (COOPERS Consortium, 2005).

tion plan for 2002-2010 to identify needed measures to achieve the stated objective at European and national levels; (2) improvement of accident prevention and analysis by improved cooperation between member states and introduction of the transnational European road accident database (CARE - Community database on Accidents on the Roads in Europe); (3) harmonisation of current rules and penalties; (4) compilation of a list of locations that are significantly dangerous (based on accident statistics), for improved signposting; and (5) an independent committee of experts for accident investigations. The white paper also states that the Commission might submit regulatory proposals by 2005 should improvements not be significant by that time. In addition, the eSafety Forum was founded in 2003 (eSafety Forum, 2005), as a result of the eSafety Working Group on Road Safety (EC, 2002). In the 2006 review of the 2001 white paper, it is stated that he target of halving the number of deaths in the period 2001 to 2010 remains valid, and will only be met by a joint effort involving governments at all levels, the car and motorway construction industries, infrastructure managers and road users themselves (EC, 2006).

#### 1.4 Motivation and research problem definition

It is apparent from the foregoing that road traffic safety has been an important policy issue since the 1950s, and has received ongoing and increasing attention in the past fifteen years. In addition to continuing efforts focusing on regulation, education and information campaigns, since the early 1990s, especially in several European countries, large-scale programmes for infrastructure redesign have been elaborated. However, full implementation of these programmes covers several decades and requires considerable investment (Poppe & Muizelaar, 1996). In the mean time, the development of driving assistance systems is rapidly progressing, and several types of applications come closer to possible high volume introduction. Considering the implementation difficulty and high cost of the infrastructure redesign programmes, the question may be raised whether certain functions of driving assistance systems could act as substitutes or complements for physical infrastructure measures. If so, the infrastructure related part of traffic safety strategies might need to be reconsidered.

To answer this question, a comparative analysis and an evaluation of the two categories of measures are required, which take into account in the first place their effects on traffic safety, but in addition other relevant effects and various implementation aspects. Such comparative analysis and evaluation are rather complex, as infrastructure measures and driving assistance systems have a quite dissimilar nature, and, in addition, are at a different stage of development. The main differences can be summarised as follows (see also (Lu, 2006)):

- 1. An infrastructure measure works for every vehicle, but mainly at its specific location, while a driving assistance system (when switched on) works everywhere, but mainly for the vehicle in which it is installed.
- 2. An infrastructure measure is generally a static piece of infrastructure that acts passively on the vehicle and/or the driver, while a driving assistance device is a dynamic system acting actively on the vehicle and/or the driver by taking decisions based on processed information.
- 3. Differences in flexibility, adaptability, liability, security, non-safety side effects and implementation impediments (e.g. the implementation of a national policy for improvement of infrastructure design requires support from local authorities; on the other hand, a harmonised and targeted large-scale application of driving assistance systems needs agreement or

even directives at the European level, with national support and possibly legislation and related fiscal and/or other measures).

- 4. Infrastructure measures are based on proven and mature technology with a high level of robustness, while for many functions of driving assistance systems this is not yet the case.
- 5. Current penetration levels of the two categories of measures are rather different.
- 6. Differences in ownership, decision making and financing schemes.

An additional problem is that the availability and reliability of data are often limited, especially for the traffic safety effects of driving assistance systems, but also for some of the other aspects, such as environmental and economic effects, and boundary conditions for implementation.

The need for a systematic comparative analysis of the traffic safety effects of the two categories of measures of dissimilar nature at the local level, and the current absence of an adequate method for such analysis constitute one major part of the motivation for this research. The other part of the motivation derives from the need to identify an adequate method for policy evaluation of various possible implementation alternatives, which takes into account both safety effects of measures and other relevant aspects.

# 2 Objective, scope and research questions

## 2.1 Research objective

The first purpose of this thesis is to develop an analytical method for comparative analysis of the traffic safety effects of measures with dissimilar nature: measures based on the implementation of infrastructure redesign, and measures based on the implementation of driving assistance systems. This comparative analysis focuses on safety performance. The thesis concerns an exploratory study to develop an approach for modelling the stated problem, and explicitly not an empirical study.

The second purpose of this thesis is to identify an adequate method for policy evaluation, and to design, based on this method, an approach for strategic evaluation of alternative implementation schemes of different measures, which can take into account the results from the method for comparative analysis and/or other method(s) concerning traffic safety effects, as well as other relevant impacts and constraints.

## 2.2 Research scope and limitations

To improve road traffic safety, there is a choice from various categories of measures. Two of these categories, road infrastructure and driving assistance systems, are studied and compared in this research.

A prerequisite for enabling the comparative analysis of measures of dissimilar nature that are supposed to have similar functionality in terms of traffic safety effects, is to provide a qualitative analysis of relationships between measures from the two different categories in terms of functional substitutability. For driving assistance systems, which are based on a range of technologies that are in different stages of development, it is important to establish for which technologies and derived systems large-scale implementation is feasible. In addition, a structured overview of infrastructure measures for improving road traffic safety needs to be provided.

To study the traffic safety effects of a measure (or a combination of measures), it is proposed to study the causal chain between a measure and the effect on traffic safety at the elementary local level of a road section or an intersection. Two types of traffic safety factors can be distinguished in modelling the causal chain: engineering factors and behavioural factors (see e.g. (Evans, 1985; Elvik, 2004)), which, however, are strongly related to each other. The approach that is elaborated in this thesis aims to develop a quantitative causal chain (QCC) model for the measure-effect chain, and to derive from this model a method for comparative analysis of safety effects of different measures (with similar functionality). The research for this part is thus carried out with a focus on the engineering perspective (and not directly from the perspective of human behaviour; for this see e.g. (Van Winsum et al., 1999; Lee et al., 2004; Hancock & De Ridder, 2003)). The method should be able to address safety effects of one measure or several measures at the elementary local level. The results can be used as inputs for policy evaluation of strategic alternatives at a higher global level of aggregation, to provide generalised results for, for instance, all roads of a certain road category (collection of roads with similar characteristics and usage) or functional road class within a certain area.

In general, for a strategic evaluation of different implementation policies an evaluation method is used. A multitude of evaluation methods exists, such as cost-benefit analysis, costeffectiveness analysis and analytical hierarchy process. For each evaluation problem the most adequate method in view of the scope and constraints of the problem needs to be selected. As inputs for the application of an evaluation method, alternatives (or strategic scenarios<sup>10</sup>) and criteria (or attributes) need to be identified and defined. For the current evaluation problem, a scenario could be one or more infrastructure or driving assistance systems based measures, or a combination of measures from the two categories. Criteria include in the first place safety effects, but in addition, also other effects of alternatives, such as societal, environmental and economic effects, and effects related to implementation aspects. The safety effects are actually part of the societal effects, but sometimes mentioned separately, as they are the main reason for implementing traffic safety measures. The evaluation method to be applied needs to be able to cope with the aspect of limitations in data availability, accuracy and reliability. The strategic evaluation should be dynamic to account for the development over time of the penetration levels of different types of measures. Forecasting methods that could be used for estimating such development are, however, not addressed in this research. Also, a detailed analysis of the effects of other relevant aspects than traffic safety is beyond the research scope.

#### 2.3 Research questions

The evaluation of the feasibility of various measures and their potential effects, in order to support decision making (at different levels) with respect to different possible strategic alternatives, is cursed with many uncertainties. Road infrastructure design and driving assistance systems have a completely dissimilar nature. In their implementation they follow completely different scenarios. Furthermore, the conventional methods to study the safety effects of these two categories of measures are different: research into infrastructure measures is mainly based on empirical study and accident statistics or expert knowledge; research into driving assistance systems is generally based on pilot trials, simulator studies and/or simulation modelling, due to yet limited or zero (dependent on the type of function) market penetration. So far, no systematic comparative analysis of the traffic safety effects of the two categories of measures has been carried out. Moreover, a certain measure plays a role to improve traffic safety at a local level, and its effects are not the same for different time periods and every location, since the specific situations (e.g. traffic speed and density, road layout and surface, vehicle type and quality, luminosity and visibility, and driver behaviour) may be different. A method for comparative analysis may especially be useful to overcome the problem of limited data availability for the traffic safety effects of driving assistance systems, by estimating such effects based on comparison with effects for infrastructure measures.

To address both comparative analysis of safety performance and comprehensive evaluation, two levels of study are distinguished in the approach: safety performance at a local level, and policy evaluation at a global level. Safety effects need in the first place to be studied at the elementary level of individual measures acting locally, and then be aggregated at a global level together with inputs concerning other effects. For infrastructure measures, study at the safety performance level means at the level of a road section, e.g. the safety effects of a speed hump or of a separate bicycle lane at that road section; or at the level of an intersection, e.g. the safety effects of a roundabout at that intersection. Study at the policy evaluation level aggregates to a network, e.g. in a country, a province, a municipality, a 30 km/h zone or a par-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Scenario in this context is synonymous to alternative, and is defined as a possible implementation strategy of a single measure (or function) or multiple measures (or functions).

ticular road. For driving assistance systems, study at the safety performance level relates to the effects of a system function (e.g. navigation, speed assistance or lane keeping) or several (possibly integrated) functions at a road section or an intersection; study at the policy evaluation level relates to one system function or several (possibly integrated) functions in a complete network.

In view of the aforementioned considerations, the following research questions are formulated:

1. What are the relationships in terms of functional substitutability concerning traffic safety effects between infrastructure measures and driving assistance systems?

As these two categories of measures are of quite dissimilar nature, comparative analysis requires investigation of potential matches in functionality between measures of the two categories, i.e. which driving assistance system (or combination of integrated system functions) is similar in traffic safety functionality to which infrastructure measure (or combination of infrastructure measures).

2. How can the fundamental schema of the influence of a measure on road traffic safety be modelled?

For developing a method for comparative analysis a theory is required concerning the causal effect chain from traffic safety measure to traffic safety effect. The causal chain can be studied in different ways (see e.g. (Elvik, 2004; Evans, 1985; Asher, 1976; Hall & O'Day, 1971)). For this research, it needs to be defined in a quantitative way based on controllable parameters. In addition, the causal chain model should enable deriving a method for comparative analysis that can be easily applied in practice.

3. What comparative analysis method is appropriate for measures of dissimilar character?

Such method is needed for the comparative analysis of safety performance, especially for estimating safety effects of driving assistance systems based on existing estimates for safety effects of infrastructure measures. The scope of the intended comparative analysis is different from conventional approaches (e.g. statistical methods, systematic behavioural studies, expert knowledge, simulator studies and simulation). The basis is that for infra-structure measures extensive experience has been acquired, and that data concerning traffic safety effects of such measures are available, while for measures based on driving assistance systems the opposite is true, i.e. limited experience and few data on traffic safety effects.

4. What systematic analytical framework is appropriate for linking the aggregated global level of decision making (taking into account other relevant aspects of alternatives in a network in addition to traffic safety effects) and the local level of decision making (only considering traffic safety effects of one or several measures at an intersection or a road section)?

A policy evaluation concerns two aspects: (1) aggregation of safety effects of an alternative, i.e. one or more specific traffic safety measures; (2) a comprehensive evaluation of various strategic alternatives taking into account safety effects, as well as effects of other aspects. In summary, the core elements of this thesis are: (1) to design a method to enable estimating traffic safety effects of traffic safety measures of one category, driving assistance systems, for which few data exist, by comparison with infrastructure measures, for which more data are available, as inputs for the evaluation framework; and (2) to create an evaluation framework for the strategic evaluation of alternative courses of action with respect to the implementation of traffic safety measures, by identifying an adequate evaluation method.

# **3** Research method

## 3.1 Introduction

The topic that is addressed by the aforementioned research questions has a certain degree of complexity due to: (1) the disparity between road infrastructure and driving assistance systems, and the way in which they affect traffic safety; and (2) the need for assessment of the effects of measures at local level focusing on a single location, combined with an aggregated evaluation at global level based on scenarios and applied to a network. Within this topic two main issues can be distinguished. The first issue is a (measure by measure) comparative analysis of traffic safety effects of measures from the different categories that are supposed to have comparable functionality, i.e. comparable effects on traffic safety. As such analysis is done on the measure level with a focus on traffic safety, it is referred to as the safety performance level analysis. Due to their dissimilar natures, until now the traffic safety effects of the two categories of measures have generally been studied separately, and by using different methods. However, as functional links between specific measures from the two categories can be established, it becomes possible and feasible to relate and compare such measures and their safety effects. This issue is addressed by logical reasoning and not by empirical testing. Apart form enabling the comparative analysis, the study is also important to take the subject of traffic safety analysis forward. The second issue is an evaluation, at a strategic level, of different implementation alternatives (i.e. sets of one or more measures, from one of the categories or from both categories) under the constraint of limited availability, accuracy and reliability of data, taking into account both the traffic safety effects and all other relevant effects and constraints. As this comparative analysis is done at the global level of strategic implementation, it is referred to as the policy evaluation level analysis.

To be able to answer the research questions, and to deal with the complexity of the topic, a bilevel approach is proposed for decision making concerning strategic alternatives for traffic safety improvement (Lu & Wevers, 2006). It is termed "bi-level" as it addresses both the safety performance of road safety measures at the local level, and policy evaluation at a global level. This approach provides: (1) a fundamental schema for the causal chain by zooming in at the microscopic level; (2) a method for comparative analysis derived from this schema; and (3) a specific method for analysis of the evaluation matrix that zooms out at the macroscopic level and enables a strategic comparison of alternative courses of action. The approach explicitly incorporates road traffic safety considerations.

#### **3.2** Benchmark for assessing functional substitutability of traffic safety measures

To address research question 1, a benchmark needs to be developed to enable comparison, in a qualitative way, of measures based on infrastructure and driving assistance systems respectively. Mainly based on literature review a set of basic principles for road traffic safety is identified and further elaborated, and, in addition, for each of these operational requirements. For each measure of both categories it is established on which requirement(s) it is specifically acting. This enables to match measures from the two categories that have comparable functionality in view of traffic safety. Further quantitative comparative analysis only deals with measures that are functionally related. Road traffic safety principles and operational requirements (that are proposed and used as a benchmark), as well as the functional substitutability relationships between measures, are described in Chapter 4.

## 3.3 Quantitative causal chain (QCC) model

To address research question 2, a model is developed for quantifying the mechanisms between traffic safety measures and their safety effects (see Chapter 5). The quantitative causal chain (QCC) model is based on a breakdown of the process in underlying factors of traffic safety (i.e. risk and consequence), and determinants (controllable parameters) that influence these factors, and are influenced by traffic safety measures (see Figure 3.1, left part: "safety performance module"). The relationships between measures, determinants and factors are modelled as coefficients. This model may in general contribute to improving insight into the mechanisms between traffic safety measures and their traffic safety effects.

#### 3.4 Comparative method for safety performance assessment

Based on the QCC model, an approach for comparative analysis of driving assistance systems and infrastructure measures in view of traffic safety effects is developed (see Chapter 6), to address research question 3. More specifically, it allows comparative analysis of measures from different categories by defining two effectiveness indices based on the coefficients as defined in the QCC model. These indices can be used to estimate effects of driving assistance systems related measures from effects of substitutional (in terms of safety effects) infrastructure related measures (which are known from other studies). This method enables especially analysis at the local level of a road section or an intersection. The thesis takes the view that effects of a measure in a quantitative sense (e.g. in terms of percentage accident change) cannot always be meaningfully generalised, as they may be very dependent on the local situation and conditions. As these vary, no representative effects of a measure exist that are valid for all cases. This indicates the uncertain outcome of a measure in terms of safety effects.

#### 3.5 Framework for policy evaluation based on grey relational analysis (GRA)

This part concerns research question 4, and investigates and proposes an approach to establish the possible contribution of strategic alternative scenarios, each consisting of a combination of several measures and/or functions, to enhance road traffic safety at the level of a road network or a selected part of it (see Chapter 7). The strategic evaluation method should be able to cope with non-homogeneous inputs (e.g. the effects of a measure dependent on the specific local situation, environment, and way and size of implementation), as well as the inaccuracy of input values.

For this a systematic and comprehensive ex-ante evaluation is required at a global level, using an evaluation method (see Figure 3.1, right part: "policy evaluation module"). Besides safety, such analysis should take into account other effects, such as related to societal, economic and environmental aspects, and implementation impediments. The safety effects of each measure (or function) at each intersection and road section can be assessed by using the developed comparative method based on the QCC model, or other methods; other effects can be estimated based on, for instance, literature study, simulator study, simulation and expert knowledge. The evaluation method aims to aggregate these inputs, and to synthesise the detailed results to a road safety policy decision support outcome. Based on formulated requirements of the evaluation problem vis-à-vis the characteristics of various methods, the grey relational analysis (GRA) method is selected, and its application is further elaborated.



Figure 3.1 - Process for the evaluation of traffic safety measures using the bi-level approach

#### 3.6 Thesis structure

The thesis focuses on two categories of measures for improving road traffic safety: infrastructure related measures (which are systematically reviewed in Paper I) and measures based on driving assistance systems (for which the feasibility of safety functions is explored in Paper II). The chosen approach to qualify the functional substitutability relationships between these two categories of measures of rather dissimilar nature is to identify traffic safety principles and underlying operational traffic safety requirements (see Paper I). In order to establish the fundamental schema of the influence of a measure on road traffic safety, a quantitative causal chain (QCC) model is developed, which is based on a breakdown of the causal chain between measures and traffic safety effects (see Paper III). In addition, a derived method (based on the QCC model) proposes to reflect the differences of safety effects between various measures by identifying (risk and consequence) effectiveness indices (see Paper III). This method for comparative analysis is particularly helpful for assessing the effects of a measure, for which few data exist, by using existing data for another measure. Generally, the results of the estimation of safety effects (safety performance module) only concern the local level (effects of one or several measures or functions at an intersection or road section). The thesis further elaborates a systematic analytical framework to aggregate effects of alternatives in a network (policy evaluation module). For this, it proposes to apply the GRA method for policy evaluation of safety strategies (see Paper IV with an example of an application at national level, and Paper V with an example of an application at local level). The structure of the thesis is outlined in Figure 3.2.



Figure 3.2 - Structure of the thesis
# 4 Functional match of infrastructure and driving assistance measures

## 4.1 Functional substitutability

To address the topic of the quantitative comparative analysis and evaluation of two categories of traffic safety related measures, the first step is defining an approach for and performing a qualitative comparative analysis and match of these two categories of measures. The goal of this qualitative analysis is to identify which measures from the two categories are comparable in terms of traffic safety functionality, i.e. in the contribution they provide to improving road traffic safety. For this, the first research question addresses the existence and nature of functional relationships in terms of substitutability between these categories of measures from a traffic safety perspective. It is difficult to precisely define and to quantify the concept of traffic safety. This, and the fact that the two categories of measures have a very dissimilar nature, makes their comparison and match in terms of traffic safety effects complex. Of the differences between the two categories of measures as outlined in Section 1.4, especially the first two relate to functional differences, and are relevant to this analysis.

The traffic safety principles and related operational requirements that were developed in The Netherlands (CROW, 1997), in the framework of the concept Sustainably Safe and with a focus on infrastructure measures, provide a point of reference for developing a more general set of traffic safety principles and operational requirements that cover all relevant infrastructure measures and driving assistance system functions, and enable a comparison and match in terms of traffic safety functionality.

## 4.2 Traffic safety principles and operational requirements

The principles of road traffic safety have been predominantly studied in relation to infrastructure measures. In The Netherlands, the increased focus from the early 1990s on specific infrastructure measures to improve road traffic safety led to a discussion on the concept of traffic safety, the results of which are a useful starting point for defining traffic safety principles for the purpose of analysing functional substitutability relationships between different measures. This discussion was related to the concept Sustainably Safe launched in 1992 (Koornstra et al., 1992), which entailed an integrated approach to traffic safety with a strong focus on road infrastructure redesign, aiming at drastically reducing the risk of accidents to occur, and the severity of accidents as far as they still occur despite the reduced risk. The three underlying safety principles, concerning preventing unintended use of the road infrastructure, indecisive behaviour of road users, and encounters at high differences in speed, direction and mass, were restated in 1997 as road network functionality, traffic behaviour predictability and traffic homogeneity (CROW, 1997).

To make the concept more operational for implementation of infrastructure redesign, at the same time a set of twelve requirements was defined (CROW, 1997). Substantial research has been carried out on conventional physical infrastructure measures (Lay, 1991; Ogden, 1996; Elvik & Vaa, 2004), the results of which indicate where measures are needed, as well as their expected traffic safety effects. The twelve requirements are a more tangible expression of principles of road design to improve traffic safety, and allow a direct translation into operational measures. Their focus is on functional aspects, and because of this, they also provide an approach to enable the intended comparative analysis. The requirements are well established

and accepted, and officially documented. Clearly these requirements originate from the point of view of road infrastructure design, but they relate in their formulation in a more general sense to the road network and its use for mobility, and thus equally permit interpretation from the point of view of driving assistance systems. However, as the principles and the derived requirements originate from the infrastructure side, not all measures based on driving assistance systems are covered, while, in addition, even some infrastructure measures are not addressed. The twelve requirements focus on prevention and mitigation of the effects of conflicts between vehicle and vehicle, vehicle and other road users, and vehicle and obstacles. Not all possible conflicts in these categories are covered, like for instance, the prevention of collisions with coincidental obstacles on the road. Furthermore, single vehicle situations are completely missing, including single vehicle roll-over and single vehicle run-off road incidents. Also, correction or mitigation of human error by providing a tolerance margin is missing in the original road safety requirements.

Taking the above-mentioned three principles and derived twelve requirements as a basis, an extended more general set of five traffic safety principles is established, as a fundamental benchmark of traffic safety, with no or minimal overlap, and covering the major functional aspects of traffic safety measures based on road infrastructure and driving assistance systems, with a connected extended set of sixteen operational functional requirements. This is done by extending the original set of three traffic safety principles and twelve operational requirements with the traffic safety principle "driving task simplification" (principle 4), with the additional requirements "driver capability enhancement" and "driver workload reduction"; and the traffic safety principle "error forgiveness" (principle 5), with the additional requirements "error correction" and "consequence mitigation". Principle 4 rather specifically relates to the functionality of driving assistance systems functions that have few clear infrastructure alternatives, while principle 5 covers the functionality of a range of driving assistance systems, and at the same time of some infrastructure measures that are not covered in the original set of principles and requirements. The Dutch Institute for Road Safety Research (SWOV - Stichting Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek Verkeersveiligheid) has also recently developed a (slightly different) extended set of Sustainable Safety Principles (Wegman & Aarts, 2006), however, without defining additional operational requirements.

#### **4.3** Functional match of infrastructure measures and driving assistance systems

The identified sixteen operational requirements permit a qualitative analysis of the potential match of infrastructure measures and measures based on driving assistance systems. The result of this is provided in Table 4.1. It lists per operational requirement, for each of the two categories, the measures that exhibit, in one way or another, the indicated functionality. Two distinguished system functions need to be stressed: (enhanced) navigation and speed assistance. Navigation systems, which relate to eight out of sixteen requirements, are a standard option these days in many new vehicle models. The navigation system also provides a platform for the provision of road traffic information, currently mainly provided as TMC messages over RDS (Radio Data System), a data channel in the FM (frequency modulation) sideband. Speed assistance systems relate to seven out of sixteen traffic safety requirements. Other safety related driving assistance system functions that can match infrastructure measures are: anti-collision (including collision warning, collision avoidance and intersection negotiation) and lane keeping.

Table 4.1 - Match of road infrastructure measures and driving assistance system functions in relation to road traffic safety principles and requirements (adapted after (CROW, 1997; Dijkstra, 2003; Lu, 2006))

	operational	possible road infrastructure solution(s)	possible driving assistance system
	requirement	-	solution(s)
safet	y principle 1: road netw	ork functionality	
1	create / realisation of	traffic calming measures, road narrowing and	speed assistance, anti-collision,
	large-size continuous	horizontal deflections, plateaux, roundabouts,	intersection support
	residential areas	speed humps, visibility and visual guidance	
2	minimise part of	consistent road markings and signing to re-	navigation (digital map and sys-
	journey on relatively	duce the number of category transitions per	tem software adaptation)
	unsafe roads	route, risk per (partial) route and crossroads	
2		distances	nonication (an ant about at nontes)
3	make journeys as	short and direct routes	navigation (smart shortest routes)
4	lot shortest and safest	(combination of requirements 2 and 2)	newigation (combination of 2 and
4	route coincide	(combination of requirements 2 and 5)	avigation (combination of 2 and 3)
safet	v principle 2. recognisal	hility and predictability	5)
5	avoid search behav-	presence and locations of signposting indica-	navigation (state of the art)
U	iour	tion of ongoing route at choice moments:	
		street lighting at choice moments	
6	make road categories	presence and type of alignment marking, of	navigation (digital map and sys-
	recognisable	area access roads, of emergency lanes, of bus	tem software adaptation), speed
		and tram stops, and of position of bicycle,	assistance
		moped and other slow traffic; obstacle-free;	
		speed limit; colour and nature of road surface	
7	limited number of	reduce the number of structurally different	speed assistance, navigation
	standard traffic solu-	crossroad types, different cross-over provi-	
	tions	sions and category transitions, and different	
C (	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	right-of-way regulations (per route)	
satet	y principle 3: traffic nor	nogeneity	long kaoping aggistanga inter
0	avoid conflicts with	Indule whe barner on 2+1 carriageway	section support anti-collision
9	avoid conflicts with	protection of crossing and crossing-over traf-	anti-collision intersection support
	crossing traffic	fic: deduce number of possible conflict points:	und complete, intersection support
	crossing traine	reduction of crossings: cancel pedestrian	
		crossings	
10	separate traffic cate-	protection of bicycle, moped, and other slow	navigation, speed assistance, lane
	gories	traffic from motor vehicles; parallel roads;	change assistant
	-	particular bicycle lanes	-
11	reduce speed at sites	speed reduction at conflict points, e.g. lower	speed assistance
	of potential conflict	legal speed limit, speed bumps, plateaux	
12	avoid obstacles along	presence and dimensions of profile of free	lane keeping assistance, anti-
	the carriageway	space, obstacle-free zone and plant-free zone;	collision, speed assistance
		presence of bus and tram stops, venicle break-	
antint		down; provisions and parking spaces	
safet	y principle 4: driving ta	down; provisions and parking spaces sk simplification	adaptive light control vision on
safet 13	y principle 4: driving ta driver capability en-	down; provisions and parking spaces sk simplification road lightning	adaptive light control, vision en-
safet 13	y principle 4: driving ta driver capability en- hancement driver workload re-	down; provisions and parking spaces sk simplification road lightning	adaptive light control, vision en- hancement
safet 13 14	y principle 4: driving ta driver capability en- hancement driver workload re- duction	down; provisions and parking spaces sk simplification road lightning middle wire barrier on "2+1" carriageway	adaptive light control, vision en- hancement navigation, ACC, stop-and-go, autonomous driving
safet 13 14 safet	y principle 4: driving ta driver capability en- hancement driver workload re- duction y principle 5: error forg	bivingness	adaptive light control, vision en- hancement navigation, ACC, stop-and-go, autonomous driving
safet 13 14 safet 15	y principle 4: driving ta driver capability en- hancement driver workload re- duction y principle 5: error forg- error correction	bivingness edge-line rumble strip, guardrail	adaptive light control, vision en- hancement navigation, ACC, stop-and-go, autonomous driving lane change assistant, speed assis-
safet 13 14 safet 15	y principle 4: driving ta driver capability en- hancement driver workload re- duction y principle 5: error forg error correction	bivingness edge-line rumble strip, guardrail	adaptive light control, vision en- hancement navigation, ACC, stop-and-go, autonomous driving lane change assistant, speed assis- tance, driver alertness monitoring,
safet 13 14 safet 15	y principle 4: driving tag driver capability en- hancement driver workload re- duction ty principle 5: error forg error correction	bis and tram stops, venicle break- down; provisions and parking spaces sk simplification road lightning middle wire barrier on "2+1" carriageway ivingness edge-line rumble strip, guardrail	adaptive light control, vision en- hancement navigation, ACC, stop-and-go, autonomous driving lane change assistant, speed assis- tance, driver alertness monitoring, alco-lock
safet 13 14 safet 15 16	y principle 4: driving ta driver capability en- hancement driver workload re- duction y principle 5: error forg error correction	bivingness edge-line rumble strip, guardrail roadside energy absorption equipment	adaptive light control, vision en- hancement navigation, ACC, stop-and-go, autonomous driving lane change assistant, speed assis- tance, driver alertness monitoring, alco-lock telematics, e.g. eCall

Several driving assistance applications (either on the market, or in a stage of early deployment, or under development) can be distinguished, which do not directly match an infrastructure measure, but have a clear potential to improve road traffic safety. These are adaptive cruise control (ACC), adaptive light control, vision enhancement, alco-lock, stop-and-go, lane change assistant, driver alertness monitoring, autonomous driving and telematics. In addition, some infrastructure measures can now be related to a safety principle and a requirement, which were not covered by the original set of twelve requirements.

This qualitative analysis clearly establishes which driving assistance system functions can match which physical infrastructure measures, and in which way. The result helps to further quantify the safety effects of those driving assistance systems based measures that are matched by road infrastructure measures, and to analyse the safety effects of various traffic safety enhancing policy scenarios based on different combinations of measures from both categories.

## 5 Model for safety performance assessment

## 5.1 Methods for studying safety performance

### 5.1.1 Introduction

Both well-designed road infrastructure and driving assistance systems may improve traffic safety. However, measures based on road infrastructure and driving assistance systems have a dissimilar nature, and, thereby, different mechanisms of influencing driving behaviour. Moreover, safety assessment of infrastructure measures has more progressed than of driving assistance system implementation, as the latter constitutes a relatively new development with, for most applications, yet limited market penetration. As a consequence, accident statistics on the effects of driving assistance systems are not usually available. Due to the differences in data availability, generally different methods are used for studying safety performance of measures from the two categories at the local level (i.e. a section of a road or an intersection).

### 5.1.2 Methods to study safety effects of infrastructure measures

The safety effects of road infrastructure measures are estimated mainly by using before-andafter studies (based on accident statistics), statistical models based on multivariate statistical analysis (e.g. linear, Poisson or negative binomial), in-depth studies and systematic behavioural studies. All of these existing approaches have substantially contributed to the knowledge concerning road traffic safety measures, but at the same time leave room for argument (Hydén, 1987). Because accidents are rare, unexpected and unpredictable events, and because accident conditions are rather complicated, it is, in general, difficult to give an unambiguous explanation for their cause or to give a reliable estimate based on historical data of the probability of a particular type of accident in the future (Oppe, 1993). Approaches based on accident statistics try to establish mathematical relationships between measures and effects. The accident numbers are often rather small which may lead to misinterpretations. Due to biased sampling, the occurred number of accidents is often higher than the average expected number of accidents. Furthermore, accident statistics are, in general, rather incomplete and unreliable. The meta-analysis of before-and-after studies, performed by Elvik & Vaa (2004), demonstrates that the results of such studies may be of limited use in practice due to the high level of uncertainty. Multivariate statistical analysis mainly focuses on the characteristics of a particular road environment, and on a particular type of accident (see e.g. (Kulmala, 1995)). Conventional linear regression models are not able to adequately describe random, discrete, nonnegative, and typically sporadic vehicle accidents, and are, thereby, inadequate for making probabilistic statements about such accidents. The Poisson and negative binomial (NB) regression models are more suitable and often used for this type of statistical analysis. The Poisson model is adequate when the mean and the variance of the accident data are approximately equal, but may overstate or understate the likelihood of vehicle accidents if the accident data are significantly overdispersed relative to the mean (Miaou & Lum, 1993). The NB model is more appropriate when the data are overdispersed (variance of the accident data significantly larger than the mean) (Shankar et al., 1997). Both the Poisson and NB models require the functional form of the model to be known in advance. The NB model can easily and significantly be affected by outliers, cannot handle missing data very well, and cannot deal adequately with multicollinear independent variables (Karlaftis & Golias, 2002). Zero-inflated Poisson (ZIP) modelling and zero-inflated NB (ZINB) modelling are zero-altered variants of these methods that may be useful in certain circumstances (Shankar et al., 1997). ZIP modelling may especially be used with overdispersed data, but interpretation of the ZIP model can be difficult (Miaou, 1994). Several issues concerning these methods were recently discussed by Fahrmeir and Echavarría (2006), Ghosh et al. (2006), Lord et al. (2007), and Wang and Alba (2006). Plausible alternative approaches are not based on accident statistics, but also have their limitations. In-depth studies are rather expensive, and therefore rarely used for systematic data collection. Systematic behavioural studies, e.g. traffic conflict techniques (TCT) (Hydén, 1987; Kraay et al., 1986), permit collection of sufficient data in a relatively short time frame (as there are more conflicts than accidents). However, the observation is timeconsuming and observers need to be trained (Van den Bossche & Wets, 2003).

#### 5.1.3 Methods to study safety effects of driving assistance systems

The effects of driving assistance systems can be evaluated by field trials, simulator studies and simulation in case of limited or zero market penetration levels. As an example, the study of the safety effects of speed assistance systems is discussed. Since the end of the 1990s largescale field trials have been carried out in various countries, e.g. Sweden (Biding & Lind 2002; Várhelyi et al., 2004), The Netherlands (Besseling & Van Boxtel 2001), UK (Carsten & Tate 2000), Denmark (Nielsen & Boroch 2001), Finland (Peltola et al., 2004), Belgium (Vlassenroot et al., 2007), France (Sauvagnac & Olivero, 2002) and Australia (Regan et al., 2002). In parallel, speed assistance systems have also been tested by simulator studies (see e.g. (Peltola & Kulmala, 2000)) and simulation models (see e.g. (Ma & Andréasson, 2005)). Simulator studies generally only address a certain system function under certain constraining conditions. Simulation is a powerful tool to identify the main influencing factors, and a system's sensitivity to changes of these factors. Instead of using real world accident data, surrogate safety indicators may be used, for instance, time to collision<sup>11</sup>, gap time<sup>12</sup>, encroachment time<sup>13</sup>, deceleration rate<sup>14</sup>, proportion of stopping distance<sup>15</sup>, post-encroachment time<sup>16</sup> and initially attempted post-encroachment time<sup>17</sup> (Gettman & Head, 2003). Generally, simulation studies require the estimation of various model parameters, especially including human behaviour. The models are only applicable to specific situations (i.e. a particular road environment, location and system function). The assumptions concerning (adaptation of) behaviour in current traffic flow simulation models generally have a rather simplified and limited character due to a lack of fundamental knowledge (see e.g. (Ma & Andréasson, 2005; Toledo, 2007; Tampère, 2004)). This makes that the outcome of such simulation studies is often questionable and of limited practical value. The main shortcoming of such models is the lack of a logical causal relationship between the studied parameters and the safety effects, i.e. the change of accident risk and consequence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> time to collision (TTC): expected time for two vehicles to collide if they remain at their present speed and on the same path

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> gap time (GT): time lapse between completion of encroachment by turning vehicle and the arrival time of crossing vehicle if they continue with same speed and path

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> encroachment time (ET): time duration during which the turning vehicle infringes upon the right-of-way of through vehicle

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> deceleration rate (DR): rate at which crossing vehicle must decelerate to avoid collision

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> proportion of stopping distance (PSD): ratio of distance available to manoeuvre to the distance remaining to the projected location of collision

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> post-encroachment time (PET): time lapse between end of encroachment of turning vehicle and the time that the through vehicle actually arrives at the potential point of collision

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> initially attempted post-encroachment time (IAPT): time lapse between commencement of encroachment by turning vehicle plus the expected time for the through vehicle to reach the point of collision and the completion time of encroachment by turning vehicle

In this thesis the estimation of the safety effects of driving assistance systems does not focus on a specific system function in a specific situation and under certain conditions, but concerns all system functions, including those still under development and/or deployment, and aims to cover, as much as possible, various situations and conditions. Therefore, a more general and practical method needs to be developed for enabling estimation of safety effects of driving assistance systems, by comparison with road infrastructure measures. For this a fundamental schema of the influence of a measure on road traffic safety needs to be modelled.

### 5.2 The causal chain between traffic safety measures and effects

Elaborating earlier research of Evans (1985; 1991), Elvik (2004) proposed a conceptual framework to model the effects of road traffic safety measures based on two causal chains, concerning respectively the engineering and behavioural effects of measures. For exploring the engineering effect of road safety measures nine engineering risk factors are proposed: kinetic energy, friction, visibility, compatibility, complexity, predictability, road user rationality, road user vulnerability and forgivingness. One or more of these factors need to be influenced by a measure to create its intended effects. The behavioural effect, covering behavioural adaptations of road users to road safety measures, is related to the engineering effect, as certain properties of the engineering effect of a road safety measure influence the likelihood that behavioural adaptation will occur. It is modelled in terms of six behavioural factors: ease of noticing measure, antecedent behavioural adaptation, size of engineering effect, affecting probability or consequence, likely size of material damage and prospect of additional utility gain. The nine engineering factors and six behavioural factors are then proposed as a (qualitative) checklist to assess the findings of road safety studies, stating that at the current state of knowledge, a more stringent evaluation of the extent to which theory can explain the findings of road safety evaluation studies is, in most cases, not possible.

The qualitative concept of the causal chain is presented in Figure 5.1. Both engineering and behavioural factors may influence three traffic safety dimensions (exposure, risk and consequence (Rumar, 1988; Nilsson, 2004)).





## 5.3 Exploring a quantitative model for the causal chain

Following the work of Evans (1985; 1991) and Elvik (2004), and in line with the research task of this thesis (concerning research question 2), this section presents a quantitative causal chain (QCC) model for assessing the effects of traffic safety measures. As a first step, only the

part of the causal chain that covers engineering factors is taken into account. Exposure is not considered separately in the causal chain, for the reasons mentioned in Section 1.2. The proposed QCC model is based on a breakdown of the process in two underlying factors of traffic safety, i.e. accident risk (R) and accident consequence (C), and five determinants ( $\psi$ ) that influence these factors, and are influenced by traffic safety measures. Traffic safety measures have a direct influence on determinants, and through these on accident risk R and on accident consequence C. The effectiveness of a traffic safety measure may be measured in terms of the change in C that it produces. Besides having a direct influence on C (via influence on a determinant), measures also have an indirect influence through the influence on R (via influence on a determinant). The diagram of Figure 5.2 presents the foregoing in a schematic way in a causal chain from traffic safety measure via the determinants and traffic safety factors to traffic safety. The relationships between measures, determinants and traffic safety factors are modelled as coefficients. The determinants and their influences are taken to be independent, i.e. any possible (but difficult to determine) coupling between the determinants, which have been chosen from a perspective of minimum overlap, is ignored. It should be emphasised that accident statistics based on historical data is not the same as accident probability, which is based on parameters such as road and vehicle characteristics, and human behaviour. The focus of the OCC model is on accident probabilities rather than accident statistics, although in practice statistics may be needed to find values for the coefficients, as far as proper methods to derive probabilities from the aforementioned parameters do not yet exist.



Figure 5.2 - Quantitative causal chain process for the influence of traffic safety measures on traffic safety

## 5.3.1 Traffic safety factors

In discussing traffic safety the focus is actually very much on the opposite concept traffic "unsafety". It is difficult to give a precise definition for both concepts, and to find adequate parameters for their measurement and assessment, as they have a highly subjective and qualitative character. Generally, traffic accident statistics are taken as assessment indicators. Traffic safety in terms of historical statistics is the resultant of two components, accident frequency (e.g. total accidents per million vehicle kilometres per year) and accident severity (e.g. proportion of accidents with fatalities, hospitalisations, slight injuries and property damage-only). On a macro level such statistics provide yardsticks for the traffic safety situation, and especially for trends thereof. The statistical data used are usually based on aggregation of different types of accidents with often quite different character, which may be related, even within one type of accident, to very different circumstances.

Traffic safety in terms of probability  $(TS_p)$  can be described as the resultant of two factors, accident risk and accident consequence (see Figure 5.2). Accident risk and accident consequence are here defined as stochastic variables, while the terms accident frequency and accident severity are defined as the actual outcomes, where obviously frequency is related to risk, and severity to consequence. Note that in some publications risk and consequence are defined in a slightly different way (see e.g. (IEC, 2000; Kaplan & Garrick, 1981; Bald, 1991)). In

practice two different definitions of the word risk are used. It is sometimes used as a synonym of probability, and in other cases as the combination of the probability of the occurrence a negative event and its potential impact. Some authors use the term probability instead of risk; others use the term risk to indicate outcome or result (see e.g. (Haight, 1986; Hauer, 1982)). In this thesis risk is used in the meaning of the probability of an accident to occur per unit of exposure. In line with this, the focus of the developed model is on traffic safety in terms of probability.

## 5.3.2 Traffic safety determinants

In the QCC model, the two factors risk and consequence are influenced by the following five main determinants:

- $\psi_1$  velocity of an individual vehicle as compared to the legal speed limit or the safe speed limit, and to the logical driving direction (vehicle in this context means motor vehicle)
- $\psi_2$  velocity differences of road users, vehicle-vehicle or vehicle-VRU
- $\psi_3$  conflict between different traffic modes, especially between vehicle and VRU, in mixed traffic situations, or between vehicle and another object, such as a parked vehicle, an animal (domestic or wild), or a fixed roadside object;
- $\psi_4$  single vehicle run-off road or rollover;
- $\psi_5$  multi-vehicle conflict, e.g. rear-end (i.e. head-rear), head-on (i.e. frontal), head-side, side-side or pile-up

The related functions for accident risk and accident consequence are formulated as follows:

$$R = g_{\rm r}(\psi_1, \psi_2, \psi_3, \psi_4, \psi_5)$$

 $C = g_{c}(\psi_{1}, \psi_{2}, \psi_{3}, \psi_{4}, \psi_{5}, R)$ 

The guiding principles for identifying these factors and determinants are: (1) to cover all road traffic safety related situations; (2) to avoid overlaps (as much as possible) between determinants; and (3) to provide a practical and transparent framework for comparative analysis. Although the determinants are selected for minimal or no overlap, influences of some determinants on other determinants do exist. Until now, the transformations from traffic safety measures, via the determinants, to the traffic safety factors has not been explicitly studied in a quantitative and systematic way in one comprehensive model. The proposed modelling of these parameters can be seen as a first step, which may be improved over time.

## 5.3.3 The quantitative causal chain model

Next, the relationships of the different elements of the causal chain between measure and effect will be elaborated. It is further assumed, as a first approximation, that the influence of a measure on a determinant, of a determinant on R and C, and of R on C are all linear. This is a simplification of reality. But reality, i.e. the precise relationships, is generally unknown. Only for the influence of speed on traffic safety, research has provided some ideas in terms of precise functional (mathematical) relationships, which, however, leave room for debate. Even if the influence is a degree four function of the determinant, as has been derived for speed (Joksch, 1993; Nilsson, 2004), it may be assumed roughly linear for shorter intervals. The measures generally address relatively short intervals of the determinants. Furthermore, for the purpose of this study it, in fact, is not a very important issue. The first purpose of the model is

to provide a better insight into the mechanisms of the causal chain. In its practical application the model is used to define a method for comparative analysis of traffic safety measures of dissimilar nature. This method is used to address estimation of the effects of driving assistance systems related measures for which only limited data are available, by comparison with the effects of road infrastructure related measures, for which more knowledge exists, and for which effect estimates are available. It is not the purpose of the proposed model to calculate the safety effect of a measure from basics. It is also assumed that the effect of a determinant on consequence (either directly or through risk) can be separated per determinant. With these assumptions, the above statements may then be summarised in the following formulae:

• Relative total effect of measure q on determinant y

$$\frac{d\psi_{y}}{dm_{q}} = \varepsilon_{qy} \tag{5.1}$$

where  $\varepsilon_{qy}$  denotes *measure effect coefficient*;

• Relative effect of determinant y on accident risk  $R_y$ 

$$\frac{dR_{y}}{d\psi_{y}} = \alpha_{y} \tag{5.2}$$

where  $\alpha_y$  denotes *risk influence coefficient*;

• Relative direct effect of determinant y on consequence  $C_{yj}$  of type j

$$\frac{\partial C_{yj}}{\partial \psi_y} = \beta_{yj} \tag{5.3}$$

where  $\beta_{yj}$  denotes *direct consequence influence coefficient*;

• Relative direct effect of risk related to determinant y on type j consequence

$$\frac{\partial C_{yj}}{\partial R_y} = \mu_{yj} \tag{5.4}$$

where  $\mu_{yj}$  denotes *indirect consequence influence coefficient*;

• Total effect on consequence of type *j* for determinant *y* 

$$dC_{yj} = \frac{\partial C_{yj}}{\partial \psi_{y}} d\psi_{y} + \frac{\partial C_{yj}}{\partial R_{y}} dR_{y}$$
(5.5)

which results in the overall relative effect of measure q on consequence of type j through determinant y

$$\frac{dC_{yj}}{dm_a} = \varepsilon_{qy} (\beta_{yj} + \mu_{yj} \alpha_y) = \eta_{qyj}$$
(5.6)

where  $\eta_{qyj}$  denotes *partial consequence effectiveness index*.

Formula (5.6), which gives the relative effect of measure q on consequence of type j (e.g. j = 1,2,3,4 representing four types of consequence: fatality, hospitalisation, slight injury and property damage-only) via determinant y (y = 1,2,3,4,5), can be easily derived from the for-

mulae (5.1) to (5.5)

The total relative effect of measure q on consequence of type j may then be calculated as the *consequence effectiveness index*  $H_{qj}$ :

$$H_{qj} = \sum_{y} \eta_{qyj} = \sum_{y} \varepsilon_{qy} (\beta_{yj} + \mu_{yj} \alpha_{y})$$
(5.7)

As an alternative, only risk may be studied, and not consequence. The resulting model is simpler, by using only the formulae (5.1) and (5.2) the following alternative for formula (5.6) may be derived:

$$\frac{dR_y}{dm_a} = \varepsilon_{qy} \alpha_y = \rho_{qy} \tag{5.8}$$

The *partial risk effectiveness index*  $\rho_{qy}$  expresses the relative effect of measure q on risk through determinant y. The total relative effect of measure q on risk may then be calculated as the *risk effectiveness index*  $P_q$ :

$$P_q = \sum_{y} \rho_{qy} = \sum_{y} \varepsilon_{qy} \alpha_y$$
(5.9)

Note that this result is equal to putting in formula (5.7) all  $\beta_{yj} = 0$ , and all  $\mu_{yj} = 1$ . This may be interpreted as follows: the only result of the measure that is considered is risk  $R_y$ . Consequence  $C_{yj}$  is ignored, therefore,  $\beta_{yj} = 0$ . Or stated differently, the only consequence that is considered is risk, i.e. consequence is put equal to risk, therefore,  $\mu_{yj} = 1$ .

In the model the relationships between measures and determinants relate to human behaviour, and their coefficients need to be estimated based on approaches such as behavioural studies, literature study and expert judgement. The other relationships have a more technical character, and although their coefficients can in practice be estimated from accident statistics, more sophisticated estimation methods may be developed that better comply with their stochastic character. In general, the proposed breakdown increases the understanding of the process, and thereby facilitates the estimation. The way to identify determinants and factors as presented in this thesis is not a unique approach for studying the causal chain (see e.g. (Elvik, 2004)). The focus of this QCC model is on the coefficients between the measure and determinants, and between determinants and traffic safety factors, instead of on quantifying the determinants and/or factors directly, which is an essential distinction between the QCC model and other related studies.

### 6 Comparative analysis of traffic safety measures

#### 6.1 Introduction

The QCC model is the basis for a general method for comparative analysis to study the safety performance at the local level. The method does not focus on safety effects of one specific method in a certain situation and under certain conditions, but is generally applicable for studying safety effects of any measure, which has a functional link, in view of traffic safety, with one or more other measures. Qualification of functional substitutability relationships based on a benchmark (defined by five traffic safety principles and sixteen operational traffic safety requirements) is the prerequisite for applying the method for a quantitative comparative analysis, and helps to select comparable measures as a preliminary step. The method for comparative analysis is particularly helpful for assessing the effects of driving assistance based measures, for which few data exist, by using existing data for physical road infrastructure based measures. It enables estimating the absolute value for the effect of a measure (e.g. a measure based on driving assistance systems) from the absolute value for the effect of another measure (e.g. a road infrastructure measure) with comparable effects on traffic safety, by providing an approach for estimating and expressing the relative effects of both measures as effectiveness indices. The term "absolute" is used in this context as opposite to "relative", and not in the mathematical sense.

#### 6.2 Method for comparative analysis based on the QCC model

Based on the quantitative model for the causal chain, and to address the third research question, a method is developed for structured comparative analysis regarding traffic safety effects of various traffic safety measures at local level. If an (estimated) absolute effect for a certain infrastructure based measure, either on risk or on consequence, is known, the absolute effect of a matching (i.e. compliant) driving assistance system based measure may be calculated if the relative effects for the road infrastructure and driving assistance system measures, i.e. their effectiveness indices, can be estimated. A measure based on driving assistance systems relates to an in-vehicle system function. Instead of with just one system function, the comparison may also be with two or more system functions each of which partially complies with the road infrastructure measure, or vice versa. The presented model with its proposed breakdown in more elementary parts intends to give the process of estimation of the relative effects a foundation. And although the presented model is based on several assumptions, it provides a useful first approximation.

If  $E_{Dj}$  is the absolute effect of an infrastructure based measure (or set of measures) on consequence of type *j*,  $E_{Aj}$  is the absolute effect of an driving assistance system based measure (or set of measures) on consequence of type *j*,  $H_{Dj}$  is the consequence effectiveness index for an infrastructure based measure on consequence of type *j*, and  $H_{Aj}$  is the consequence effectiveness index of a driving assistance system based measure on consequence of type *j*, then:

$$E_{Aj} = \frac{H_{Aj}}{H_{Dj}} E_{Dj}$$

$$(6.1)$$

Similarly, if only risk is studied, and not consequence, the resulting formula is (mutatis mutandis):

$$E_{\rm A} = \frac{P_{\rm A}}{P_{\rm D}} E_{\rm D} \tag{6.2}$$

where E denotes absolute effect of a measure (or set of measures) on risk.

This derived method tries to compare measures or sets of measures from the different categories (road infrastructure and driving assistance systems) that have similar functionality in terms of the effects on the resultant traffic safety, but may have a different way and/or level of action through the causal chain. It enables to establish a composite effectiveness index for a measure, providing a relative figure for the effect per unit amount of measure, and takes into account that the way and/or level of action of the measure through the causal chain may be different for the two compared measures. The composite effectiveness index  $H_{qj}$  or  $P_q$  may be seen as the absolute effect per unit implementation of a measure  $E_{qj}$  or  $E_q$ , taking into account variability based on the local situation and circumstances, such as deriving from environment, traffic situation, driver behaviour, road layout and road geometry. The comparative method then concludes that these relative indices may be used to calculate the effect for an amount of one measure (e.g. from the category of driving assistance systems) based on the known effect for a comparable amount of another measure (e.g. from the category of road infrastructure measures). For example, the assumption is the introduction of a sufficient number of speed humps on a road section to reduce speed versus all vehicles driving through that road section are equipped with a speed assistance system.





A – measures based on driving assistance systems D – measures based on road infrastructure



Figure 6.1 illustrates and summarises the causal chain and its relationships in a quantitative way with the related variables and coefficients, as well as overall effects of measures on accident risk and accident consequence, for which effectiveness indices are established. It includes the two indices that are defined based on the coefficients of the model for the causal chain: the risk effectiveness index, which considers in the comparison only accident risk, and the consequence effectiveness index, which considers accident consequence, and thereby also takes into account accident risk. Values for the risk influence coefficient  $\alpha_y$ , the direct consequence influence coefficient  $\beta_{yj}$ , and the indirect consequence influence coefficient  $\mu_{yj}$  may be

estimated based on accident statistics. It should be emphasised that this is a use of accident statistics to estimate probabilities, in the absence of better methods. Compared to the risk and consequence influence coefficients, the measure effect coefficient  $\varepsilon_{qy}$  has a different character: it expresses the relative effect of a measure on a determinant, and reflects the explicit model-ling of human behaviour.

#### 6.3 Illustration of the method for comparative analysis

To illustrate the developed method based on the QCC model, a hypothetical example is provided. The values for the risk and (direct and indirect) consequence influence coefficients (i.e.  $\alpha_y$ ,  $\beta_{yj}$  and  $\mu_{yj}$ , see Figure 6.1) are calculated based on accident statistics. For the measure effect coefficient  $\varepsilon_{qy}$  illustrative values are provided based on the feedback model of a measure, i.e. information, warning, overrideable control and non-overrideable control. Using the estimation results of the coefficients ( $\alpha_y$ ,  $\beta_{yj}$ ,  $\mu_{yj}$  and  $\varepsilon_{qy}$ ), and applying the developed comparative analysis method, a specific example is provided concerning the estimation of traffic safety effects of (matching) driving assistance systems compared with a roundabout at an intersection.

## 6.3.1 Risk and consequence influence coefficient estimation

Values for the coefficients  $\alpha_y$ ,  $\beta_{yj}$  and  $\mu_{yj}$  are estimated partially based on accident type and causation data provided by the SWOV, and, in addition, based on expert knowledge. The SWOV database contains accident data from 1980 to present, and includes details, such as accident type, road category, speed limit, crash situation, road situation, environment and seventy-seven different accident causes. It should be noted that such type of accident statistics are generally rather inaccurate and incomplete, and full of overlaps. Registration levels for fatalities, hospitalisations and property damage-only accidents are about 95%, 60% and 12% respectively according to SWOV specification. The SWOV figures that are used include a correction for underreporting. Based on these data, for each of the provided accident causes, the number of accidents, the number of fatalities and the number of hospitalisations are calculated. For each of the accident causes it is then judged if it relates to a certain determinant y (y = 1,2,3,4,5). The judgement is based on expert knowledge acquired in discussions with researchers of the SWOV and other experts, and from literature study. Then values for the coefficients are calculated as follows:

- the sum of the numbers of accidents related to  $\alpha_y$  divided by the total number of accidents provides a value for the risk influence coefficient  $\alpha_y$ , e.g.  $\alpha_1 = 0.021$  means that 2.1% of all accidents is related to vehicle speed (see Table 6.1);
- the sum of the numbers of fatalities related to  $\alpha_y$  divided by the total number of fatalities provides a value for the direct consequence influence coefficient  $\beta_{y1}$  for fatalities (*j* = 1), e.g.  $\beta_{21} = 0.009$  means that 0.9% of all fatalities is related to velocity differences between road users (see Table 6.1);
- the sum of the numbers of hospitalisations related to  $\alpha_y$  divided by the total number of hospitalisations provides a value for the direct consequence influence coefficient for hospitalisations  $\beta_{y2}$  (j = 2), e.g.  $\beta_{32} = 0.038$  means that 3.8% of all hospitalisations is related to conflicts between different traffic modes (see Table 6.1);

- the sum of the numbers of fatalities related to  $\alpha_y$  divided by the total number of accidents related to  $\psi_y$  provides a value for the indirect consequence influence coefficient  $\mu_{y1}$  for fatalities (j = 1), e.g.  $\mu_{41} = 0.038$  means that 3.8% of all accidents is related to single vehicle run-off road involve fatalities (see Table 6.1); and
- the sum of the numbers of hospitalisations related to  $\alpha_y$  divided by the total number of accidents related to  $\psi_y$  provides a value for the indirect consequence influence coefficient  $\mu_{y_2}$  for hospitalisations (*j* = 2), e.g.  $\mu_{52} = 0.073$  means that 7.3% of all accidents is related to multi-vehicle conflict involve hospitalisations (see Table 6.1).

deter-	risk influ-	direct consequen	ce influence coefficient	indirect conseque	ence influence coefficient
minant	ficient	j = 1 (fatality)	j = 2 (hospitalisation)	j = 1 (fatality)	j = 2 (hospitalisation)
$\psi_1$	$\alpha_1 = 0.021$	$\beta_{11} = 0.026$	$\beta_{12} = 0.009$	$\mu_{11} = 0.071$	$\mu_{12} = 0.193$
$\psi_2$	$\alpha_2 = 0.030$	$\beta_{21} = 0.009$	$\beta_{22} = 0.007$	$\mu_{21} = 0.016$	$\mu_{22} = 0.096$
$\psi_3$	$\alpha_3 = 0.176$	$\beta_{31} = 0.009$	$\beta_{32} = 0.038$	$\mu_{31} = 0.003$	$\mu_{32} = 0.088$
$\psi_4$	$\alpha_4 = 0.109$	$\beta_{41} = 0.077$	$\beta_{42} = 0.016$	$\mu_{41} = 0.038$	$\mu_{42} = 0.059$
$\psi_5$	$\alpha_5 = 0.591$	$\beta_{51} = 0.056$	$\beta_{52} = 0.011$	$\mu_{51} = 0.049$	$\mu_{52} = 0.073$

Table 6.1 - Estimated values of influence coefficients

## 6.3.2 Value ranges for the measure effect coefficient

As  $\varepsilon_{qy}$  reflects the explicit modelling of human behaviour, values for this coefficient can be estimated based on methods such as behavioural analysis, literature study and expert knowledge. A specific  $\varepsilon$ -value needs to be estimated for each specific case. For this it may help to use the four behaviour influence or compulsiveness levels that are generally distinguished in the design of driving assistance systems, based on the feedback model that is chosen: information (visual or acoustic), warning (acoustic or haptic), overrideable control (haptic throttle) or non-overrideable control (fuel supply control and/or braking). Although the four compulsiveness levels are clearly derived from driving assistance system functions, they may be applied to infrastructure measures as well (for an illustration see the next section). As a guideline, illustrative value ranges are provided for the lower three levels, while the highest level clearly has value 1.00 (maximum effect), as follows:

- information:  $0.00 \le \varepsilon_{qy} \le 0.60$
- warning:  $0.50 \le \varepsilon_{av} \le 0.85$
- overrideable control:  $0.75 \le \varepsilon_{qy} \le 0.95$
- non-overrideable control:  $\varepsilon_{qv} = 1.00$

#### 6.3.3 Example of safety effects estimation: driving assistance and roundabout

To illustrate the developed method, the estimation of the safety effects (fatalities and hospitalisations) of integrated driving assistance system functions, based on the safety effects for a roundabout is taken as an example. In previous research of the SWOV, the potential safety improvement in 2010 as compared to the situation in 1998, due to the implementation of DVI, is analysed and predicted, especially regarding fatalities and hospitalisations (on which the Dutch traffic safety policy focuses), taking into account changes of road length and traffic density. The study is mainly based on before-and-after studies (using historical accident data), behavioural studies and educated guess (Janssen, 2003). These data are used to identify the absolute effects (in percentage) of infrastructure redesign ( $E_{Dj}$  and  $E_D$ ). For a roundabout, the values for fatality reduction  $E_{D1} = 75.0\%$ , and hospitalisation reduction  $E_{D2} = 53.0\%$  are estimated by the SWOV (Janssen, 2003).

Roundabouts can improve traffic safety due to the following reasons (Elvik et al., 1997; cited in Hydén & Várhelyi, 2000: p.12): "(1) they reduce the number of conflict points among traffic flows; (2) road users approaching the roundabout have to give way to those in it; (3) all traffic inside the intersection comes from one direction; (4) roundabouts eliminate left turn in front of meeting traffic, and (5) the lateral displacement reduces the speed." By using traffic safety principles and requirements as a benchmark, three driving assistance system functions can be selected, which have a potential functional match with a roundabout. These potentially substitutional system functions are speed assistance, intersection support and anti-collision functions.

The risk and consequence influence coefficients (presented in Table 6.1) and the measure effect coefficients  $\varepsilon_{qy}$  are used to calculate the consequence effectiveness indices  $H_{Aj}$  and  $H_{Dj}$  in formula (6.1), by applying formula (5.7). The  $\varepsilon$ -values for each measure are estimated as follows (and summarised in Table 6.2):

- The roundabout may influence four determinants: vehicle speed  $(\psi_1)$ , speed difference  $(\psi_2)$ , conflict between vehicles and VRUs  $(\psi_3)$ , and conflict between vehicles  $(\psi_5)$ . In this case, the  $\varepsilon$ -values are taken as:  $\varepsilon_{q1} = 0.90$ ,  $\varepsilon_{q2} = 0.95$ ,  $\varepsilon_{q3} = 0.60$ , and  $\varepsilon_{q5} = 0.70$  respectively. Previous research (see e.g. (Hydén & Várhelyi, 2000; Elvik & Vaa, 2004)) shows that roundabouts provide considerable control of vehicle speeds and speed differences between vehicles. In addition, a roundabout reduces conflict points compared with an intersection, and a well designed roundabout may contribute to mitigating conflict between vehicles and VRUs.
- Speed assistance can influence vehicle speed ( $\psi_1$ ) and speed difference ( $\psi_2$ ). For speed assistance a sophisticated flexible system layout would be possible that differentiates according to road category and traffic safety requirements: mandatory full control on roads with mixed traffic, mandatory overrideable control (haptic throttle) on single carriageway roads with separation of traffic categories, and voluntary warning on dual carriageway roads specifically designed for motor vehicles. However, control based speed assistance is not currently seen as feasible form a general acceptance point of view. Therefore, in this case the values are taken to be  $\varepsilon_{q1} = 0.75$  and  $\varepsilon_{q2} = 0.30$ , in the warning and information ranges respectively. The influence of information/warning based speed assistance on speed differences between vehicles at this type of intersection is assumed to be not very significant.
- The purpose of intersection support systems is especially to avoid conflict between vehicles ( $\psi_5$ ), as well as mitigating the consequence. It is assumed that  $\varepsilon_{q5} = 0.60$ . In view of the current level of development of these systems, especially concerning robustness (including reliability, permanent and fail-safe operation, and few or no false alarms), higher influence on determinant  $\psi_5$  is considered unrealistic.
- The anti-collision function influences two determinants: conflict between vehicles and VRUs ( $\psi_3$ ) and conflict between vehicles ( $\psi_5$ ). The  $\varepsilon$ -values are estimated to be  $\varepsilon_{q3} = 0.05$ , and  $\varepsilon_{q5} = 0.05$ . As stated before, considering the current level of development of technologies for positioning and communication, as well as for sensor fusion and HMI (Human Machine Interface) design, the anti-collision function is supposed to have only a limited influence on the related determinants.

measure based on road infrastructure	<i>ɛ</i> -value	measure based on driving assistance systems	<i>ɛ</i> -value
	$\varepsilon_{q1} = 0.90$	speed assistance	$\varepsilon_{q1} = 0.75$ $\varepsilon_{q2} = 0.30$
roundabout	$\varepsilon_{q2} = 0.95$ $\varepsilon_{z2} = 0.60$	intersection support	$\varepsilon_{q5} = 0.60$
	$\varepsilon_{q3} = 0.70$	anti-collision	$\varepsilon_{q3} = 0.05$
	90		$\varepsilon_{q5} = 0.05$

Table 6.2 - Example of estimated values of the measure effect coefficient

For the reduction rates of fatalities (j = 1) and hospitalisations (j = 2) for a roundabout, the values of  $E_{D1}$  and  $E_{D2}$  are used (based directly on SWOV data), and the method for comparative analysis is applied to estimate the values of  $E_{A1}$  and  $E_{A2}$ . Firstly, the potential safety improvement (in terms of consequence) for each of three driving assistance system functions is estimated, by comparison with a roundabout; secondly, the safety effects (i.e. reduction rates of fatalities and hospitalisations) by the implementation of integrated system functions compared with a roundabout are estimated.

The results for the potential safety effects for each single driving assistance system function are:

• potential safety improvement by implementation of speed assistance systems, in comparison with the implementation of a roundabout, for fatalities (j = 1) and hospitalisations (j = 2) respectively

$$E_{A1} = \frac{H_{A1}}{H_{D1}} \times E_{D1} = \frac{\sum_{y=1,2} \varepsilon_{Ay} (\beta_{y1} + \mu_{y1} \alpha_y)}{\sum_{y=1,2,3,5} \varepsilon_{Dy} (\beta_{y1} + \mu_{y1} \alpha_y)} \times E_{D1}$$

 $= \{ [0.75 \times (0.026 + 0.071 \times 0.021) + 0.30 \ (0.009 + 0.016 \times 0.030)] / [0.90 \times (0.026 + 0.071 \times 0.021) + 0.95 \times (0.009 + 0.016 \times 0.030) + 0.60 \times (0.009 + 0.003 \times 0.176) + 0.70 \times (0.056 + 0.049 \times 0.591)] \} \times 75.0\%$ 

= 17.8%

$$E_{A2} = \frac{H_{A2}}{H_{D2}} \times E_{D2} = \frac{\sum_{y=1,2} \varepsilon_{Ay} (\beta_{y2} + \mu_{y2} \alpha_y)}{\sum_{y=1,2,3,5} \varepsilon_{Dy} (\beta_{y2} + \mu_{y2} \alpha_y)} \times E_{D2}$$

 $= \left\{ \left[ 0.75 \times (0.009 + 0.193 \times 0.021) + 0.30 \times (0.007 + 0.096 \times 0.030) \right] / \left[ 0.90 \times (0.009 + 0.193 \times 0.021) + 0.95 \times (0.007 + 0.096 \times 0.030) + 0.60 \times (0.038 + 0.088 \times 0.176) + 0.70 \times (0.011 + 0.073 \times 0.591) \right] \right\} \times 53.0\%$ 

- = 7.4%
- potential safety improvement by implementation of intersection support systems, in comparison with the implementation of a roundabout, for fatalities (j = 1) and hospitalisations (j = 2) respectively

$$E_{A1} = \frac{H_{A1}}{H_{D1}} \times E_{D1} = \frac{\sum_{y=5} \varepsilon_{Ay} (\beta_{y1} + \mu_{y1} \alpha_y)}{\sum_{y=1,2,3,5} \varepsilon_{Dy} (\beta_{y1} + \mu_{y1} \alpha_y)} \times E_{D1}$$

 $= \left\{ \left[ 0.60 \times (0.056 + 0.049 \times 0.591) \right] / \left[ 0.90 \times (0.026 + 0.071 \times 0.021) + 0.95 \times (0.009 + 0.016 \times 0.030) + 0.60 \times (0.009 + 0.003 \times 0.176) + 0.70 \times (0.056 + 0.049 \times 0.591) \right] \right\} \times 75.0\%$ 

```
= 38.6%
```

$$E_{A2} = \frac{H_{A2}}{H_{D2}} \times E_{D2} = \frac{\sum_{y=5}^{y=5} \varepsilon_{Ay} (\beta_{y2} + \mu_{y2} \alpha_y)}{\sum_{y=1,2,3,5} \varepsilon_{Dy} (\beta_{y2} + \mu_{y2} \alpha_y)} \times E_{D2}$$

 $= \left\{ \left[ 0.60 \times (0.011 + 0.073 \times 0.591) \right] / \left[ 0.90 \times (0.009 + 0.193 \times 0.021) + 0.95 \times (0.007 + 0.096 \times 0.030) + 0.60 \times (0.038 + 0.088 \times 0.176) + 0.70 \times (0.011 + 0.073 \times 0.591) \right] \right\} \times 53.0\%$ 

- = 18.9%
- potential safety improvement by implementation of anti-collision systems, in comparison with the implementation of a roundabout, for fatalities (j = 1) and hospitalisations (j = 2) respectively

$$E_{A1} = \frac{H_{A1}}{H_{D1}} \times E_{D1} = \frac{\sum_{y=3,5} \varepsilon_{Ay} (\beta_{y1} + \mu_{y1} \alpha_y)}{\sum_{y=1,2,3,5} \varepsilon_{Dy} (\beta_{y1} + \mu_{y1} \alpha_y)} \times E_{D1}$$

- $= \left\{ \left[ 0.05 \times (0.009 + 0.003 \times 0.176) + 0.05 \times (0.056 + 0.049 \times 0.591) \right] / \left[ 0.90 \times (0.026 + 0.071 \times 0.021) + 0.95 \times (0.009 + 0.016 \times 0.030) + 0.60 \times (0.009 + 0.003 \times 0.176) + 0.70 \times (0.056 + 0.049 \times 0.591) \right] \right\} \times 75.0\%$
- = 3.6%

$$E_{A2} = \frac{H_{A2}}{H_{D2}} \times E_{D2} = \frac{\sum_{y=3,5} \mathcal{E}_{Ay} (\beta_{y2} + \mu_{y2} \alpha_y)}{\sum_{y=1,2,3,5} \mathcal{E}_{Dy} (\beta_{y2} + \mu_{y2} \alpha_y)} \times E_{D2}$$

 $= \left\{ \left[ 0.05 \times (0.038 + 0.088 \times 0.176) + 0.05 \times (0.011 + 0.073 \times 0.591) \right] / \left[ 0.90 \times (0.009 + 0.193 \times 0.021) + 0.95 \times (0.007 + 0.096 \times 0.030) + 0.60 \times (0.038 + 0.088 \times 0.176) + 0.70 \times (0.011 + 0.073 \times 0.591) \right] \right\} \times 53.0\%$ 

$$= 3.1\%$$

The potential safety effects for implementation of integrated driving assistance systems compared with roundabouts cannot be determined simply by summing up the estimation results of safety effects of these three functions, due to overlaps in functionality. In this case, the value for the integrated system functions is estimated by taking the largest  $\varepsilon$ -value. For instance, both intersection support and anti-collision concern  $\varepsilon_{q5}$ . And max {0.60, 0.05} = 0.60, therefore, the value of  $\varepsilon_{q5} = 0.60$  for intersection support is adopted as the overall value for the calculation. Then:

• potential safety improvement by implementation of integrated driving assistance systems (i.e. in this case, speed assistance, intersection support and anti-collision systems), in comparison with the implementation of a roundabout, for fatalities (j = 1) and hospitalisations (j = 2) respectively

$$E_{A1} = \frac{H_{A1}}{H_{D1}} \times E_{D1} = \frac{\sum_{y=1,2,3,5} \varepsilon_{Ay}(\beta_{y1} + \mu_{y1}\alpha_{y})}{\sum_{y=1,2,3,5} \varepsilon_{Dy}(\beta_{y1} + \mu_{y1}\alpha_{y})} \times E_{D1}$$

 $= \{ [0.75 \times (0.026 + 0.071 \times 0.021) + 0.30 \times (0.009 + 0.016 \times 0.030) + 0.05 \times (0.009 + 0.003 \times 0.176) + 0.60 \times (0.056 + 0.049 \times 0.591) ] / [0.90 \times (0.026 + 0.071 \times 0.021) + 0.95 \times (0.009 + 0.016 \times 0.030) + 0.60 \times (0.009 + 0.003 \times 0.176) + 0.70 \times (0.056 + 0.049 \times 0.591) ] \} \times 75.0\%$ 

= 56.8%

$$E_{A2} = \frac{H_{A2}}{H_{D2}} \times E_{D2} = \frac{\sum_{y=1,2,3,5} \varepsilon_{Ay} (\beta_{y2} + \mu_{y2} \alpha_y)}{\sum_{y=1,2,3,5} \varepsilon_{Dy} (\beta_{y2} + \mu_{y2} \alpha_y)} \times E_{D2}$$

 $= \{ [0.75 \times (0.009 + 0.193 \times 0.021) + 0.30 \times (0.007 + 0.096 \times 0.030) + 0.05 \times (0.038 + 0.088 \times 0.176) + 0.60 \times (0.011 + 0.073 \times 0.591) ] / [0.90 \times (0.009 + 0.193 \times 0.021) + 0.95 \times (0.007 + 0.096 \times 0.030) + 0.60 \times (0.038 + 0.088 \times 0.176) + 0.70 \times (0.011 + 0.073 \times 0.591) ] \} \times 53.0\%$ 

It should be stressed that the presented values are in the first place meant to illustrate the method for comparative analysis based on the QCC model. Certainly better values may be obtained by more elaborate analysis of available data, and by use of other methods and additional expert knowledge. Nevertheless, this example provides some interesting preliminary results of the quantitative analysis. The roundabout shows higher safety effects than the related (potentially substitutional) driving assistance system applications. Note that such comparative analysis only addresses safety effects at a local level in a specific case. For comprehensive evaluation of the overall effects for a network, non-safety aspects need to be taken into account as well. Such evaluation is discussed in the next chapter.

# 7 Framework for policy evaluation

## 7.1 Introduction

To address research question 4, a systematic analytical framework needs to be elaborated for a comprehensive evaluation of the overall effects of traffic safety measures, which takes into account traffic safety effects, using the results from the comparative method for traffic safety effects at local level, together with non-safety related aspects. For this strategic evaluation of various alternatives an evaluation method needs to be selected.

## 7.2 Evaluation process

Evaluation methods provide a recipe for analysis and ranking of different available alternatives (or strategic scenarios) for achieving certain goal(s) or objective(s). Generally, first a list of relevant operational attributes (criteria and sub-criteria) of the alternatives is established, creating a (two-dimensional) matrix of alternatives (i) and attributes (k) (see Table 7.1). For each relevant cell of this evaluation matrix a value is established (i.e. the value of one attribute for one alternative). Then some operation is applied to rank the alternatives. Each set of attribute values for one alternative constitutes an alternative vector, and the essence is to transform each alternative vector in a coherent way to an appropriate numerical value, after which the preferable alternative can be determined from the ranking of these values. An evaluation method may also try to pursue more than one objective, creating essentially a cubic array of alternatives, attributes and objectives.

alternatives $\rightarrow$ criteria/attributes $\downarrow$	$a_1$	$a_2$	 $a_i$
$c_{1}\left( . ight)$	$c_{1}(a_{1})$	$c_1(a_2)$	 $c_1(a_i)$
$c_{2}(.)$	$c_2(a_1)$	$c_{2}(a_{2})$	 $c_2(a_i)$
$c_{k}\left(. ight)$	$c_k(a_1)$	$c_{k}\left(a_{2} ight)$	 $c_{k}\left(a_{i} ight)$

Table 7.1 - Evaluation matrix  $i \times k$ 

## 7.3 Evaluation methods

There is an abundant number of evaluation methods, each trying to cope in their own specific way with several aspects of the evaluation problem that make it such a notoriously difficult one. These are especially the differences in the nature of the criteria used, and the related issue to aggregate items that are measured in dissimilar units.

## 7.3.1 Categories of evaluation methods

Two categories of evaluation methods can be distinguished: economics based evaluation and normalisation based evaluation. Each method from both categories in essence provides a procedure to process the evaluation matrix in order to provide a preference ranking of the alternatives. Examples of evaluation methods in the two categories that are commonly in use concern:

1. Economics based evaluation methods

*Cost-Benefit Analysis* (CBA)<sup>18</sup> (Boardman, 1996; Heikkila, 2000; Elvik, 2001; Hakkert & Wesemann, 2004), *Cost-Effectiveness Analysis* (CEA) (Trilling, 1978; Wesemann, 2000), *Planning Balance Sheet* (PBS) (Lichfield, 1956; Lichfield, 1964) and *Goal Achievements Matrix* (GAM) (Hill, 1968; DETR, 1998)

### 2. Normalisation based evaluation methods<sup>19</sup>

Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) (Saaty, 1980; Saaty 1995), Simple Additive Weighting (SAW) (Yoon & Hwang, 1995), Technique for Order Preference by Similarity to Ideal Solutions (TOPSIS) (Hwang & Yoon, 1981), ÉLimination Et Choix Traduisant la RÉalité (ELECTRE) (Roy, 1968; Chenga et al., 2003), Preference Ranking Organisation METHod for Enrichment Evaluations (PROMETHEE) (Brans, 1982, Brans et al., 1986; Brans, 1996; Haralambopoulos & Polatidis, 2003, Al-Rashdan et al., 1999) and fuzzy multiple criteria decision aid (Zadeh, 1965; Klir et al., 1997; Chen et al., 1992; Ribeiro et al., 2003; Khan et al., 2002)

Both economics and normalisation based methods have their advantages and limitations, and the results often give a room for arguments. Economics based methods express attribute values as much as possible in a monetary unit. In practice, this often appears to be costly, and sometimes inoperable. But the less stringent this condition is applied (e.g. in CEA, PBS and GAM), the less feasible it becomes to obtain a clear analytical answer. Normalisation based methods try to remove the issue of dissimilar units, but none of them has rigorous theoretical foundations. Each of the normalisation based methods is, in fact, no more than an advanced calculation recipe, and some of these methods are not always able to provide an unambiguous ranking order. The presence of multiple attribute value types that cannot be expressed in monetary units precludes by nature the use of an economics based method.

#### 7.3.2 Requirements for the method to evaluate traffic safety measures

The evaluation case addressed in this thesis concerns two categories of technologies of quite dissimilar character: physical road infrastructure and driving assistance systems. For the traffic safety effects of infrastructure measures data are available; for driving assistance systems such data are not usually available due to limited penetration, but may be estimated in terms of differences with infrastructure effects by using the method for comparative analysis derived from the QCC model, or other methods. Besides traffic safety, a comprehensive evaluation should take into account a range of other aspects, some of which can be expressed in physical measurement units with different levels of certainty, while others can only be valued by, for instance, a scoring approach. From these characteristics three specific requirements derive for the evaluation method to be selected. This method should be able to adequately process and aggregate, in one evaluation matrix: (1) a wide range of attributes with different value types; (2) both attributes expressed in objective physical measurement units, and attributes expressed as subjective scores; and (3) both attributes with accurate and reliable values, and attributes for which all or part of the available data have a high level of uncertainty with respect to accuracy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Instead of for comparing and ranking several alternatives, CBA may also be used for assessing just one alternative.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> In the literature, normalisation based evaluation is also called multi-criteria analysis (MCA), multi-criteria (or multiple criteria) decision analysis (MCDA), multi-criteria decision making (MCDM) or multiple attribute decision making (MADM) (Figueira et al., 2005).

## 7.4 Grey system theory and grey relational analysis

## 7.4.1 Grey system theory and methods

Grey system theory was initiated by J. Deng (1982) in P.R. China. It provides an approach for abstract modelling of systems for which the information is limited, incomplete and characterised by random uncertainty. The term grey stands for poor, incomplete and uncertain, and is especially used in relation to the concept of information. In system control theory, a system for which the relevant information is completely known is sometimes called a white system, while a system for which the relevant information is completely unknown is termed a black system. Any system between these limits then may be called a grey system (Guo, 2005).

Grey system theory gradually developed from requirements for new methods to solve certain problems. The main grey methods within grey system theory are (grey) systems and control, grey modelling (GM) and grey relational analysis (GRA). Grey system and control enriches the domain of systems and control, and provides a valuable complement to conventional methods (Deng, 1982; Zhou & Deng, 1989). Grey system typically deals with systems, objects or concepts having a well-defined external boundary but internal uncertainty or vagueness, while conversely fuzzy mathematics deals with systems, objects or concepts having a well-defined interior but no well-defined external boundary (Liu & Lin, 1998). GM is developed based on requirements for system modelling with limited data, which is a notorious problem for most classical modelling methods. The first order one variable grey model, denoted as GM(1,1) is especially applicable for forecasting (Deng, 1985; Wong & Chen, 2000; Cheng & Chang, 2001; El-Fouly et al., 2006). GRA is a normalisation based evaluation method. It is used for system analysis, as an alternative for traditional statistical methods (Deng, 1984; Lin & Yang, 1999; Hu et al., 2002; Morán et al., 2006). Generally, for addressing problems involving random uncertainty, correlation analysis based on traditional statistical methods requires relatively large sample sizes for a sufficiently reliable analysis of the distribution. GRA, on the other hand, requires a sample of only limited (and from a statistics point of view generally insufficient) size, of discrete sequential (time-series) data to enable reliable modelling and estimation of system behaviour. Furthermore, statistical methods require a probability distribution for the values in the evaluation matrix. In some cases, a probability distribution cannot be determined due to, for instance, limited availability of data. GRA does not require such probability distribution. Presently GRA as well as the other grey system methods are mainly applied in Chinese speaking areas, and hardly known in western countries.

## 7.4.2 Introduction of the GRA evaluation method

GRA is based on the concept of grey relational space (GRS), one of the elements of grey system theory (Deng, 1989). In the case of an evaluation matrix, each alternative (*i*) can be taken as one series, which consists of a set of criteria or attributes (*k*). The sets of values of all the alternatives together constitute a GRS. The fundamental schema of GRS is to integrate two-dimensional Euclidean space (i.e. *distance space*) and set-point topology (i.e. *metric space*). Because the latter cannot be directly and intuitively measured in the distance space, GRA specifies a mathematical way to analyse the correlation between the series that compose a GRS, i.e. to determine the *distance* (i.e. difference) between a *reference series* and each of the alternatives *i*). The reference series is a vector created from the set of alternatives with for each attribute either the maximum value, the minimum value or the optimum value, depend-

ent on the type of attribute. By applying some further processing, for each series of the original set, a grey relational grade is determined. The grey relational grades provide a ranking of the alternatives.

The characteristics of GRA can be summarised as follows (Deng, 2005): (1) compared to correlation analysis in statistics, only a limited number of data is needed (at least three values in each series); (2) the distribution of the data does not need to be explicitly considered; and (3) the calculation procedure is simple and transparent. GRA is especially able to cope with the uncertainty of data that exists for the evaluation problem that is addressed in this thesis. It does not need to take into account the distribution of the attribute values. GRA only requires relative accuracy of data (see also the algorithm in Section 7.5). In GRA the attributes may be of any relevant type, and the original units may be applied, e.g. physical quantities and scores. GRA enables to aggregate overall effects of alternatives in a network, considering the inaccuracy of the input data, and, thereby, a comprehensive evaluation (including e.g. societal aspects, economic aspects, environmental aspects and implementation impediments) at a global level, and, by this, to provide a clear-cut ranking of alternatives. By implementing the calculation procedure in a computer algorithm (Wen et al., 2006), it is straightforward to evaluate different scenarios, and to perform sensitivity analyses. Based on the foregoing, it can be concluded that the GRA method does fulfil the three stated requirements (see Section 7.3.2). Furthermore, GRA can easily be extended to cover multi-objective evaluation problems. All this does not mean that GRA is a perfect method; it is just a different method with different characteristics, and for other purposes. Like the other presented methods, also GRA is basically no more that a recipe for evaluation, i.e. for processing an evaluation matrix and providing a ranking of the alternatives.

## 7.5 GRA algorithm

In GRA it is assumed that the input attributes satisfy three conditions for comparability of the set of series (Deng, 1989): (1) for each attribute vector the difference between the maximum and minimum input values is less than an order of magnitude of two; (2) all attributes in an attribute vector are of the same type (maximum value, minimum value or optimum value); and (3) all attributes in an attribute vector have the same measurement scale, and, if in a quantitative scale, have the same unit or no unit. In the GRA literature these conditions are referred to as *scaling* (for the order of magnitude), *polarisation* (for the attribute type), and *non-dimension* (for the measurement scale) (Deng, 1989). If these three conditions are not satisfied, normalisation of the input data prior to GRA processing is required. By applying normalisation (i.e. the data pre-processing), compliance with the three conditions is achieved.

The GRA community has seen quite extensive discussions on normalisation to prove that the original attribute vectors, before normalisation, and the resulting attribute vectors, after normalisation, have the same relative positions in GRS without any distortion. For more detailed discussions on normalisation see (Deng, 1989; Wu & Chen, 1999; Chang, 2000). The most widely used normalisation method is the one developed by Wu and Chen (1999), called the *linear data approach*. It takes into account the type of the attribute (maximum value<sup>20</sup>, minimum value<sup>21</sup> or optimum value<sup>22</sup>), and normalises to a scale [0,1]. The respective formulae are:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Maximum value attribute may also be named benefit attribute or the-larger-the-better attribute.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Minimum value attribute may also be named cost attribute or the-smaller-the-better attribute.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Optimum value attribute may also be named preferred value attribute or objective attribute.

• maximum value:

$$x_{i}^{*}(k) = \frac{x_{i}(k) - \min_{k} x_{i}(k)}{\max_{k} x_{i}(k) - \min_{k} x_{i}(k)}$$
(7.1a)

(7.1b)

- minimum value:  $x_i^*(k) = \frac{\max_k x_i(k) x_i(k)}{\max_k x_i(k) \min_k x_i(k)}$
- optimum value

$$x_{i}^{*}(k) = 1 - \frac{\left|x_{i}(k) - x_{op}(k)\right|}{\max\{\max_{k} x_{i}(k) - x_{op}(k), x_{op}(k) - \min_{k} x_{i}(k)\}}$$
(7.1c)

where  $\max_k x_i(k)$  is the maximum value of attribute k for alternative i,  $\min_k x_i(k)$  is the minimum value of attribute k for alternative i, and  $x_{op}(k)$  is the optimum value of attribute k.

After normalisation the reference series is identified. This is the base vector of reference values with which all series are compared. Which value for a certain attribute defines the value of the reference series depends on the type of the attribute. In general, for a maximum value type attribute the highest value is taken, for a minimum value type attribute the lowest value, and for an optimum value type attribute the predetermined preferred value.

For each alternative vector (or compared series), its difference with the reference vector (or reference series) is calculated:

$$\Delta_{0i}(k) = |x_0(k) - x_i(k)|, \ k = 1, 2, \dots, n$$
(7.2)

This creates a new  $(i \times k)$  matrix of difference vectors. From this matrix, for each alternative *i* and attribute *k*, a grey relational coefficient is calculated, which for each element of an alternative vector or compared series is defined as:

$$\gamma(x_0(k), x_i(k)) = \frac{\min_{i,k} |x_0(k) - x_i(k)| + \zeta \max_{i,k} |x_0(k) - x_i(k)|}{|x_0(k) - x_i(k)| + \zeta \max_{i,k} |x_0(k) - x_i(k)|}$$
(7.3)

where  $\gamma(x_0(k), x_i(k))$  denotes the grey relational coefficient of attribute *k* for alternative *i*,  $x_0(k)$  denotes the element of the reference series for attribute *k*,  $x_i(k)$  denotes the element of the compared series for attribute *k*, and  $\zeta \in (0,1)$  denotes the identification (or distinguishing) coefficient. Formula (7.3) can be worded as follows: for each *i*, *k* value in the matrix of difference vectors, the sum of the minimum of all values in the *k* vector, and the maximum of all values in the *k* vector multiplied by a distinguishing coefficient, is divided by the sum of the value itself and (again) the maximum of all values in the *k* vector multiplied by the distinguishing coefficient (Guo, 1985; Deng, 1989; Wen et al., 2006). When the *linear data approach* for normalisation is applied, the value  $\zeta = 1$  is taken for the distinguishing coefficient. This avoids the discussion concerning the selection of an appropriate value for this coefficient (Wu & Chen, 1999).

The grey relational grade for the compared series  $x_i$  in terms of weight  $w_k$  is given as

$$\Gamma_{0i} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} w_k \gamma(x_0(k), x_i(k))$$
(7.4)

where  $w_k$  is the weight of  $\gamma(x_0(k), x_i(k))$ , and  $\sum_{k=1}^n w_k = 1$ .

The grey relational grades of the set of compared series provide a ranking of the alternatives, where a higher value determines a better alternative. Note that GRA itself does not deal with the issue of applying weights.

## 7.6 GRA application steps

The process of evaluating the various alternatives (e.g. implementation strategies of driving assistance systems and/or road infrastructure) by the application of GRA may be summarised by the following steps:

- 1. Identify the relevant alternatives, and criteria or attributes.
- 2. Give operational definitions for the attributes (see Table 7.2) to enable the specification of values for each alternative.
- 3. Establish values (for each attribute for each alternative) and create the alternatives (*i*) versus attributes (*k*) matrix ( $i \times k$ ) (see Table 7.3, except the right column).
- 4. Identify the reference series (the ideal alternative), taking into account the type of each attribute (maximum value, minimum value or optimum value) (see Table 7.3, right column).
- 5. If the three conditions for comparability of the set of series are not satisfied, normalise the original input data as well as the reference series by using formula (7.1a), (7.1b) or (7.1c) dependent on the attribute type (see Table 7.4).
- 6. Calculate, for each alternative *i*, the absolute (in a mathematical sense) difference between the reference series and each compared series by using formula (7.2) (see Table 7.5).
- 7. Calculate the grey relational coefficients  $\gamma(x_0(k), x_i(k))$  for each alternative *i* and attribute *k* by using formula (7.3) (see Table 7.6, except the bottom line).
- 8. Calculate the grey relational grade  $\Gamma_{0i}$  for each of the alternatives *i* by using formula (7.4) (see Table 7.6 bottom line).
- 9. Rank the alternatives based on the grey relational grades  $\Gamma_{0i}$ . The ranking provides the evaluation result: the larger the value of grey relational grade, the better the alternative.

## 7.7 Illustration of the application of GRA

Two examples are provided to demonstrate how to apply the GRA evaluation method. The first one concerns a reconsideration of the Dutch national strategy for improving traffic safety (see Paper IV). In this example the (aggregated) values in the evaluation matrix are illustrative. Actual values maybe obtained from research results, or by applying other methods. The second example applies GRA to a road in The Netherlands (see Paper V). This example addresses the case of a local authority who needs to select an alternative for improving traffic safety. Part of the safety effects of each alternative concerning driving assistance systems can be estimated by applying the method for comparative analysis derived from the QCC model that is presented in Chapter 6. It should be emphasised that the process of scenario selection as provided in both examples (for national and local level respectively) is illustrative, and that scenarios are selected based on likelihood. Scenarios are consisting of infrastructure measures only, driving assistance measures only and combinations of measures from the two categories. These scenarios are created based on brainstorm discussion, interview and common logical

criteria	attributes	operational value description		
		total fatality reduction rate in a period, as percentage		
	accident consequence	total hospitalisation reduction rate in a period, as percentage		
a a ai a ta 1	accident consequence	total slight injury reduction rate in a period, as percentage		
aspects		total property damage-only reduction rate in a period, as percentage		
uspeets	accident risk	total traffic accident reduction rate in a period, as percentage		
	comfort/convenience	rated from 1 to 10, a higher grade means more comfortable/convenient		
	emergency services	rated from 1 to 10, a higher grade indicates less impediment for the services		
environ-	reduce emissions	total reduction rate of CO, $NO_x$ and $C_xH_y$ , as percentage		
ment	reduce noise	rated from 1 to 10, a higher grade means higher noise reduction		
	network capacity	rated from 1 to 10, a higher grade means higher contribution to capacity		
eco-	land use	rated from 1 to 10, a lower grade indicates more extra physical space needed		
nomic	fuel consumption	reduction of fuel consumption, as percentage		
aspects	time spent	total travel time reduction rate, as percentage		
	costs	total NPV (net present value) of a certain year, for instance in EUR 1 million		
imple-	public acceptance	rated from 1 to 10, a higher grade means higher acceptance		
menta-	technology difficulty	rated from 1 to 10, a lower grade means fewer technical problems		
tion	policy difficulty	rated from 1 to 10, a lower grade means easier implementation of the policy		

#### Table 7.2 - Example of criteria, attributes and operational value descriptions for a comprehensive evaluation framework

Table 7.3 - Evaluation matrix with original input data of each compared series (the alternatives), and the reference series

attuilanta		reference series		
attribute	$a_1$	$a_2$	 $a_i$	$a_0$
<i>k</i> = 1	$x_{1}(1)$	$x_{2}(1)$	 $x_i(1)$	$x_0(1) = \max_{k=1} x_i(k)$
k = 2	$x_1(2)$	$x_{2}(2)$	 $x_i(2)$	$x_0(2) = \max_{k=2} x_i(k)$
k = n	$x_1(n)$	$x_2(n)$	 $x_i(n)$	$x_0(n) = \min_{k=n} x_i(k)$

Note: the attributes k = 1,2 are taken as maximum value type attributes, and the attribute k = n is taken as a minimum value type attribute, as is reflected in the reference series  $a_0$ 

TT 1 1 7 4 NT 1' 1	1, 0, 1	1 .	1.1	с ·
Table / 4 - Normalised	data of each	compared serie	s and the re	terence series
	uutu or cuon	compared serie	s und the re	

attributa	alternative (comp	reference series		
attribute	$a_1$	$a_2$	 $a_i$	$a_0$
<i>k</i> = 1	$x_1^*(1) = \frac{x_1(1) - \min_{k=1} x_i(1)}{\max_{k=1} x_i(1) - \min_{k=1} x_i(1)}$	$x_2^{*}(1)$	 $x_i^{*}(1)$	$x_0^*(1) = \max_{k=1} x_i^*(k)$
<i>k</i> = 2	$x_1^*(2) = \frac{x_1(2) - \min_{k=2} x_i(2)}{\max_{k=2} x_i(2) - \min_{k=2} x_i(2)}$	$x_2^{*}(2)$	 $x_i^{*}(2)$	$x_0^*(2) = \max_{k=2} x_i^*(k)$
k = n	$x_{i}^{*}(n) = \frac{\max_{k=n} x_{i}(n) - x_{1}(n)}{\max_{k=n} x_{i}(n) - \min_{k=n} x_{i}(n)}$	$x_{2}^{*}(n)$	 $x_i^*(n)$	$x_0^*(n) = \min_{k=n} x_i^*(k)$

Note: the attributes k = 1,2 are taken as maximum value type attributes, and the attribute k = n is taken as minimum value type attribute, as is reflected in the reference series  $a_0$ 

attributa	alt	alternative (compared series)				
attribute	$a_1$	$a_2$		$a_i$		
<i>k</i> = 1	$\Delta_{01}(1) =  x_0^*(1) - x_1^*(1) $	$\Delta_{02}(1)$		$\Delta_{0i}(1)$		
k = 2	$\Delta_{01}(2) =  x_0^*(2) - x_1^*(2) $	$\Delta_{02}(2)$		$\Delta_{0i}(2)$		
k = n	$\Delta_{01}(n) =  x_0^*(n) - x_1^*(n) $	$\Delta_{02}(n)$		$\Delta_{0i}(n)$		

Table 7.5 - Difference, for each compared series, between the compared series and the reference series (after normalisation)

Table 7.6 - Grey relational coefficient  $\gamma(x_0(k), x_i(k))$  of attribute *k* for alternative *i*, and ranking based on grey relational grade  $\Gamma_{0i}$  of each alternative *i* 

attribute	alternative (compared series)				
aunouic	$a_1$	$a_2$		$a_i$	
k = 1	$\gamma(x_0(1), x_1(1))$	$\gamma(x_0(1), x_2(1))$		$\gamma(x_0(1), x_i(1))$	
k = 2	$\gamma(x_0(2),x_1(2))$	$\gamma(x_0(2),x_2(2))$		$\gamma(x_0(2), x_i(2))$	
k = n	$\gamma(x_0(n), x_i(n))$	$\gamma(x_0(n), x_2(n))$		$\gamma(x_0(n), x_i(n))$	
grey relational grade	$\Gamma_{01}$	$\Gamma_{02}$		$\Gamma_{0i}$	

reasoning, for the illustration of strategic evaluation. Attributes are categorised as societal aspects, economic aspects, environmental aspects and implementation impediments. By applying the GRA algorithm a ranking of alternatives is provided (by computing the grey relational grade for each alternative), and the result enables selection of the preferable strategy. The calculation procedure of GRA (i.e. the aforementioned nine steps), for each of these two examples, is presented in detail in appendices 1 and 2 respectively.

The evaluation result provides the priority ranking of the scenarios. It needs to be noted that the provided illustration and the obtained ranking results only reflect special cases: the obtained rankings are not necessarily representative for roads or the complete road network in The Netherlands. The evaluation approach is equally applicable to other routes or networks (local, regional, national or European), and to scenarios of a different composition. In addition, one should be careful and not take these results as absolute truths. They are the output of an illustrative application of the method. More sophisticated estimation of the input values may lead to a different ranking. The obtained ranking may also be biased by a too optimistic estimation (in the used SWOV figures) of the safety effects of some road infrastructure measures, which are, therefore, not offset by the high costs and other negative factors (e.g. related to comfort and convenience, impediments for emergency services, and effects on land use). The quality of the ranking is essentially dependent on the quality of the input data. The GRA method provides an approach to aggregate data, and to provide a ranking of alternatives. However, to obtain sufficient and reliable input data for the evaluation matrix is and remains a notorious problem, which cannot be solved by the GRA method. The same applies to the determination of weights. A crucial point to keep in mind is that an evaluation method provides a tool for assisting decision making, but that no algorithm can act as a complete substitute for human judgement.

# 8 Discussion

## 8.1 Thesis contribution

### 8.1.1 Scientific contribution

The research provides a contribution to the fundamental knowledge regarding the comparison of various measures of dissimilar nature, road infrastructure and driving assistance systems, with regards to traffic safety effects.

- 1. A quantitative causal chain (QCC) model is developed to analyse and quantify the mechanisms of the process from traffic safety measures to their traffic safety effects. The QCC model focuses on the transformations from traffic safety measures, via the determinants, to the traffic safety factors, which are specified by coefficients. The model contributes to improving insight into the mechanisms of the causal chain.
- 2. A method for comparative analysis of measures of dissimilar nature by using effectiveness indices is developed based on the QCC model. It is in principle applicable to any comparative analysis of road traffic safety measures, which are related in terms of functional substitutability.
- 3. A bi-level approach (consisting of a safety performance module for the local level and a policy evaluation module for the global level) combines the method for comparative analysis at the local level derived from the QCC model with an evaluation method based on grey relational analysis (GRA) for analysis at the global level, and provides a transparent and systematic framework for comparative analysis of different strategies, as a platform for supporting decision making.

## 8.1.2 Practical relevance

The main relevance of the research can be summarised as follows:

- 1. On the one hand, a strong political desire exists to accelerate the improvement of road traffic safety; on the other hand, implementation of infrastructure measures is often a timeconsuming process due to budget restrictions. If scarce money can be used more effectively by shifting (partly or completely) from physical road infrastructure based strategies to ICT and sensor based strategies, this would entail significant societal advantages. This research helps to make the discussion more transparent, and to suggest ways and provide methods to cope with the related uncertainties.
- 2. The research highlights the contribution of various types of driving assistance systems to road traffic safety based on comparison with road infrastructure measures.
- 3. A bi-level approach is proposed, in which two modules are distinguished: safety performance and policy evaluation. Each of the modules can in principle be used on its own. On the one side, the safety performance module provides a comparative method derived from the QCC model, which can help an authority to decide if and where an infrastructure measure should be implemented, by also taking into account the effectiveness of driving assistance system(s). On the other side, the policy evaluation module provides a comprehensive, flexible and easily applicable approach for evaluation.

### 8.2 Discussion of the research method and further research

This section specifies some relevant topics concerning model and method development, which may serve as inputs for further research.

## 8.2.1 *QCC* model and derived method

Model validation in science and technology concerns testing if a model is valid. This may be interpreted as testing if the model, which is an abstract and restricted representation of the reality, correctly or sufficiently represents this reality. This reality generally is a process that produces a certain output from a certain input. For some models experiments can be designed to do the testing. Other models can be tested using existing data. For yet other models validity testing is not straightforward or even impossible. A notorious example is a macro-economic model, which cannot be properly tested. A specific experiment is not possible, and historical data (representing a non-specific one time experiment) may actually have been influenced by the very outcome of the predictions based on the model. The developed QCC model might be tested using historical accident data. The problem, however, is that these accident data are generally rather incomplete and highly inaccurate and unreliable. A core problem in this field is further that accidents are rare events, and that experiments certainly are not possible. For these reasons, and because of yet limited knowledge, it is impossible at this stage to assess the validity of the QCC model by traditional methods. To address this issue, further research is required and, possibly, further development of the model itself. The developed model is a first step in a certain direction to quantify the causal chain.

The described QCC model is based on several assumptions, some of which are certainly simplifving with respect to reality, but inevitable, in absence of more precise insight. It provides, however, a practical but founded and transparent method to address the problem of assessment of a traffic safety measure for which only incomplete data are available, by enabling comparative analysis with a traffic safety measure for which accurate and reliable estimates of the safety effects exist. The model may also be a valuable tool for further analysis of the underlying mechanisms of the causal chain between measures and effects, which in the end may help to improve the model itself. The focus of the QCC model is on the coefficients between measures, determinants and factors, instead of on quantifying the determinants and/or factors directly. This is an distinction between the QCC model (and the derived method for comparative analysis) and other approaches. In addition, the derived method has the purpose to deal with comparative analysis of safety effects of different (types of) measures directly, instead of to estimate safety effects of one specific measure. Better estimation methods for the various coefficients need to be developed, with more focus on probability, and less on expert judgement and historical accident data. For instance, an objective method may be developed for assessing accident probability, which is not based on accident statistics, but on objective road safety audits, or on the use of quantitative static road environment parameters (such as geometry including curvature, road gradient, superelevation, road surface, road width, and road attributes like functional road class and legal speed limit), dynamic traffic parameters (such as speed, density and flow), and dynamic environmental conditions (such as luminosity, vision and weather).

Additional research may further detail the model and provide enhanced procedures for estimation of the various coefficients, and thereby improve the derived method for comparative analysis for use in practical applications. Change or adaptation of behaviour is the fundamental schema behind the influence of measures on determinants. This is a rather complex issue, since current knowledge and available data are too limited to quantify a general behavioural model (Evans, 1991; 2004). Human driving behaviour may be influenced by various parameters, which can be categorised as driver characteristics (such as individual risk perspective, mood, skill, age and gender), vehicle characteristics (such as vehicle type, vehicle quality and vehicle dynamics), road infrastructure characteristics, traffic conditions and environment conditions. Possible further research could, for instance, be based on behavioural observations (Risser, 1985).

## 8.2.2 Policy evaluation based on GRA

With respect to the policy evaluation module, the following topics for further study may be identified:

1. More fundamental research of grey system theory and grey relational analysis (GRA)

The current foundations of grey system theory are not yet sufficiently rigorous in a mathematical sense. Therefore, it may be useful to carry out further fundamental research to see whether an axiomatic foundation for grey system theory can be created. This may help to promote appreciation and adoption outside the Chinese speaking world. The GRA method is an associated fundamental concept that is critical in grey system. Further study on its mathematical foundation may help to strengthen its theoretical basis, and should especially address the following questions, for instance by systematic simulation:

- (a) To which degree can GRA compensate for or tolerate incompleteness and unreliability of data?
- (b) Which GRA data pre-processing (or normalisation) approach is most suitable for which situation(s)?
- 2. Study, development and application of methods for obtaining values for other attributes than traffic safety in the evaluation matrix

This concerns especially the following issues:

(a) Other societal aspects, such as comfort and convenience, and efficiency (e.g. in relation to emergency services)

For further study standard criteria and a standard procedure for score estimation need to be established, to guide experts in giving reasonable scores.

(b) Environmental aspects, such as emissions, noise and vibration

In principle, values for changes in these attributes, expressed in physical measurement units, can be obtained from real world tests or simulation studies.

(c) Economic aspects, such as network capacity, land use, fuel consumption and total costs

Some economic effects can be determined in physical measurement units through simulation, e.g. change of network capacity and fuel consumption; for other effects, e.g. change of land use, it is more efficient to use a system based on subjective scores; for systematically studying costs, a database could be established for estimation and prediction of costs, especially for driving assistance systems. Another economic aspect is traffic performance (which is partly related to network capacity), such as total travel time spent. This attribute could also be studied by simulation (based on collected real world data). An example is mitigating shock waves on flow roads using driving assistance systems, which reduces total travel time (Lu et al., 2006).

(d) Implementation conditions, such as public acceptance, and technology and policy implementation impediments

These attributes could to be studied by, for instance, survey or interview.

3. Weighting and sensitivity analysis

In general, the issue of determining values for the weights is in the domain of the operational use of the model, and not of the model development itself. Nevertheless, it may be a topic for further research from the perspective of the model. Weighting may be used for sensitivity analysis, although this actually can be studied directly from the model, for instance, by variation of input values or changes in attribute selection.

## 8.3 Conclusion and final remark

## 8.3.1 Functional substitutability relationships of traffic safety measures

Five safety related driving assistance system functions (i.e. navigation, speed assistance, anticollision, intersection support and lane keeping) emerged as potential candidates to match infrastructure measures in terms of functional substitutability. The chosen approach to study the functional relationships in terms of substitutability between these two categories of measures of rather dissimilar nature is to identify a comprehensive set of traffic safety principles, and related more operational traffic safety requirements. Driving assistance systems can especially simplify the driving task (safety principle 4) and provide human error forgiveness (safety principle 5); on the contrary, few infrastructure measures can comply with these two principles. Navigation systems and speed assistance systems comply with about half of the traffic safety requirements. In general, the introduction of integrated speed assistance and (enhanced) navigation may reduce the need for and urgency of the various other systems that are being developed.

## 8.3.2 Modelling and evaluation of traffic safety measures

The developed QCC model reflects the fundamental schema of the influence of a measure on road traffic safety. The focus is on modelling the relationships between the identified elements of the causal chain (measures, determinants and factors) by coefficients. The way to identify determinants, as well as to estimate the relevant coefficients in the causal chain is not unique. More sophisticated estimation methods may be developed that better comply with the stochastic character in the chain. In general, the proposed breakdown increases the understanding of the process of the influence of a measure on traffic safety, and thereby facilitates the estimation of safety effects of various measures. The comparative analysis method that is derived from the QCC model addresses the safety effects of measures by effectiveness indices. This method is only applicable for studying safety effects of measures with similar functionality for improving traffic safety. It is particularly helpful for assessing the safety effects of a measure for which few data exist (e.g. a driving assistance system that is under development or in an early stage of deployment), by using existing data for another measure with comparable functionality (e.g. a physical infrastructure measure of which the safety effects have been thoroughly studied). The method based on the QCC model contributes to studying safety performance at a local level.

At a global level, policy evaluation of overall effects of strategic alternatives (which are generally composed of measures) for a network is needed, in which other relevant aspects than safety can be taken into account as well. The thesis proposes the normalisation based evaluation method GRA for comprehensive policy evaluation. GRA provides an easily applicable and transparent procedure to compare various alternatives with the theoretical optimal solution within the values provided by the set of considered alternatives, and to establish a clearcut ranking order of these alternatives. It requires only relative accuracy of data within an attribute vector, and not absolute accuracy of the specific values. The purpose of GRA is not to provide a perfect method for evaluation, but a practical one. In general, it may be said that no algorithm can act as a complete substitute for human judgement.

The bi-level approach combines the comparative analysis method derived from the QCC model, and the GRA method in one comprehensive approach for assessment of the substitut-ability of traffic safety measures with comparable functionality.

## **9** References

- Al-Rashdan, D., Al-Kloub, B., Dean, A., Al-Shemmeri, T. (1999). Environmental impact assessment and ranking the environmental projects in Jordan. European Journal of Operational Research, vol. 118, no. 1, pp. 30-45.
- Archer, J. (2005). Indicators for traffic safety assessment and prediction and their application in micro-simulation modelling: a study of urban and suburban intersections. Doctoral thesis, Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm.
- Asher, H.B. (1976). Causal modeling. Sage, Beverly Hills, CA.
- Bald, J.S. (1991). Grundlagen für die Anwendung van Riskoanalysen im Straßenwesen. Doctoral thesis, Technische Hochschule Darmstadt, Darmstadt.
- Besseling, H., Van Boxtel, A. (2001). Intelligent speed adaptation: results of the Dutch ISA Tilburg trial. Ministry of Transport, Public Works and Watermanagement, Transport Research Centre (AVV), Rotterdam.
- Biding, T., Lind, G. (2002). Intelligent speed adaptation (ISA), Results of large-scale trials in Borlänge, Lidköping, Lund and Umeå during the period 1999-2002. Publication 2002:89, Vägverket, Borlänge.
- Boardman, A.E., Greenberg, D.H., Vining, A.R., Weimer, D.L. (1996). Cost-benefit analysis: concepts and practice. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ.
- Bossche, F. van den, Wets, G. (2003). Macro models in traffic safety and the DRAG Family: literature review. Steunpunt Verkeersveiligheid bij Stijgende Mobiliteit, Report RA-2003-08, Diepenbeek.
- Brans, J.P. (1982). L'ingénierie de la décision. L'élaboration d'instruments d'aide à la décision. Université Laval, Quebec.
- Brans, J.P., Vincke, P., Mareschal, B. (1986). How to select and how to rank projects: the PROMETHEE method. European Journal of Operational Research, vol. 24, pp. 228-238.
- Brans, J.P. (1996). The space of freedom of the decision maker modelling the human brain. European Journal of Operational Research, vol. 92, pp. 593-602.
- Carsten, O., Tate, F. (2000). Final report: Integration. External Vehicle Speed Control (EVSC) project, Deliverable EVSC-D17, Institute for Transport Studies, University of Leeds, Leeds.
- Chang, W.-C. (2000). A comprehensive study of normalisation in grey relational analysis. Journal of the Chinese Grey System Association. vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 53-62. (in Chinese)
- Chen, S.-J., Hwang, C.-L., Hwang, F.-P. (1992). Fuzzy multiple attribute decision making: methods and applications. Springer, Berlin.
- Cheng, K.-H., Chang, W.-C. (2001). A grey mathematical model for earthquake forecasting. Journal of the Chinese Grey System Association, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 131-142.
- Cheng, S., Chan, C.-W., Huang, G.-H. (2003). An integrated multi-criteria decision analysis and inexact mixed integer linear programming approach for solid waste management. Engineering Applications of Artificial Intelligence, vol. 16, pp. 543-554.
- Constitution for Europe (2003). Draft treaty establishing a Constitution for Europe, adopted by consensus by the European Convention, 13 June 2003 and 10 July 2003, submitted to the President of the European Council on 18 July 2003, Rome.
- COOPERS Consortium (2005). Annex I Description of work (annex to the contract with the Commission of the European Communities), COOPERS Consortium, Brussels. (re-stricted)
- CROW (1997). Handboek categorisering wegen op duurzaam veilige basis. CROW, Ede.
- CVIS Consortium (2005). Annex I Description of work (annex to the contract with the Commission of the European Communities), CVIS Consortium, Brussels. (restricted)

- Deng, J. (1982). Control problems of grey systems. Systems and Control Letters, vol. 1, no. 5, pp. 288-294.
- Deng, J. (1984). Theory and method of social economic grey systems. Social Science of China, no. 6, pp. 47-60. (in Chinese)
- Deng, J. (1985) The GM model of grey systems. Fuzzy Mathematics, Special Issue on Grey Systems, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 23-32. (in Chinese)
- Deng, J. (1989). Introduction to grey system theory. The Journal of Grey System, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 1-24.
- Deng, J. (2005). The primary methods of grey system theory. Huazhong University of Science and Technology Press, Wuhan.
- DETR (1998). Understanding the new approach to appraisal. Department for Environment, Transport and the Regions (DETR), London.
- DETR (2000). Tomorrow's roads: safer for everyone. Department for Environment, Transport and the Regions (DETR), London.
- Dijkstra, A. (2003). Testing the safety level of a road network. Stichting Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek Verkeersveiligheid (SWOV), Report D-2003-15, Leidschendam.
- EC (European Communities) (2001). European transport policy for 2010: time to decide (white paper). Commission of the European Communities, Brussels.
- EC (European Communities) (2002). Final report of the eSafety Working Group on Road Safety. Commission of the European Communities, Brussels.
- EC (European Communities) (2006). Keep Europe moving Sustainable mobility for our continent, Mid-term review of the European Commission's 2001 transport white paper. Commission of the European Communities, Brussels.
- El-Fouly, T.H.M., El-Saadany, E.F., Salama, M.M.A. (2006). Grey predictor for wind energy conversion systems output power prediction. IEEE Transactions on Power Systems, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 1450-1452.
- Elvik, R., Vaa, T., Østvik, E. (1989) Trafikksikkerhetshåndbok. Transportøkonomisk institutt, Oslo.
- Elvik, R., Mysen A.B., Vaa, T. (1997). Trafikksikkerhetshåndbok. Transportøkonomisk institutt, Oslo.
- Elvik, R. (1999). Can injury prevention efforts go too far? Reflections on some possible implications of Vision Zero for road accident fatalities. Accident Analysis and Prevention, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 265-286.
- Elvik, R. (2001). Cost-benefit analysis of road safety measures: applicability and controversies. Accident Analysis and Prevention, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 9-17.
- Elvik, R. (2004). To what extent can theory account for the findings of road safety evaluation studies? Accident Analysis and Prevention, vol. 36, no. 5, pp. 841-849.
- Elvik, R., Vaa, T. (2004). The handbook of road safety measures. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- eSafety Forum (2005). Final report and recommendations of the Implementation Road Map Working Group. eSafety Forum, Brussels.
- Evans, L. (1985). Human behavior feedback and traffic safety. Human Factors, vol. 27, pp. 555-576.
- Evans, L. (1991). Traffic safety and the driver. Van Nostrand Reinhold, New York.
- Evans, L. (2004). Traffic safety. Science Serving Society, Bloomfield Hills, MI.
- Fahrmeir, L., Echavarría, L.O. (2006). Structured additive regression for overdispersed and zero-inflated count data. Applied Stochastic Models in Business and Industry, vol. 22, no. 4, pp. 351-369.
- Figueira, J., Greco, S., Ehrgott, M. (Eds.) (2005). Multiple criteria decision analysis state of the art survey. Springer, New York.

- Gettman, D., Head, L. (2003). Surrogate safety measures from traffic simulation models, Final report. U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration, Publication FHWA-RD-03-050, McLean, VA.
- Ghosh, S.K., Mukhopadhyay, P., Lu, J.C. (2006). Bayesian analysis of zero-inflated regression models. Journal of Statistical Planning and Inference, vol. 136, no. 4, pp. 1360-1375.
- Guo, H. (1985). Identification coefficient of grey relational grade. Fuzzy Mathematics, Special Issue on Grey Systems, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 55-58. (in Chinese)
- Guo, R. (2005). Repairable system modeling via grey differential equations. Journal of Grey System, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 69-91.
- Haight, F.A. (1986). Risk, especially risk of traffic accident. Accident Analysis and Prevention, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 359-366.
- Hakkert, A.S., Gitelman, V., Cohen, A., Doveh, E., Umansky, T. (2001). The evaluation of effects on driver behavior and accidents of concentrated general enforcement on interurban roads in Israel. Accident Analysis and Prevention, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 43-63.
- Hakkert, A.S., Wesemann, P. (Eds.) (2004). The use of efficiency assessment tools: solutions to barriers. Deliverable D5, ROSEBUD (Road Safety and Environmental Benefit-Cost and Cost-Effectiveness Analysis for Use in Decision-Making) Consortium, Brussels.
- Hall, W.K., O'Day, J. (1971). Causal chain approaches to the evaluation of highway safety countermeasures. Journal of Safety Research, vol. 3, pp. 9-20.
- Hancock, P.A., De Ridder, S.N. (2003). Behavioural accident avoidance science: understanding response in collision incipient conditions. Ergonomics, vol. 46, no. 12, pp. 1111-1135.
- Haralambopoulos, D.A., Polatidis, H. (2003). Renewable energy projects: structuring a multicriteria group decision-making framework. Renewable Energy, vol. 28, pp. 961-973.
- Hauer, E. (1982). Traffic conflicts and exposure. Accident Analysis and Prevention, vol. 14, no. 5, pp. 359-364.
- Heikkila, E.J. (2000). The economics of planning. Center for Urban Policy Research, State University of New Jersey, New Brunswick, NJ.
- Hill, M. (1968). A goal-achievements matrix for evaluating alternative plans. Journal of the American Institute of Planners, vol. 34, pp. 19-29.
- Hu, W., Hua, B., Yang, C. (2002). Building thermal process analysis with grey system method. Building and Environment, vol. 37, pp. 599-605.
- Hummel, T. (2001). Route management in safer transportation network planning. Stichting Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek Verkeersveiligheid (SWOV), Report D-2001-11, Leidschendam.
- Hwang, C.-L., Yoon, K. (1981). Multiple attribute decision making methods and applications: a state-of-the-art survey. Springer, New York.
- Hydén, C. (1987). The development of a method for traffic safety evaluation: the Swedish Traffic Conflicts Technique. Doctoral thesis, Lund University, Lund.
- Hydén, C., Várhelyi, A. (2000) The effects on safety, time consumption and environment of large scale use of roundabouts in an urban area: a case study. Accident Analysis and Prevention, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 11-23.
- IEC (2000). IEC 61508, Functional safety of electrical/electronic/programmable electronic safety-related systems. Central Office of the International Electrotechnical Commission, Genève.
- ISO (2004). ISO 14825:2004, Intelligent Transportation Systems Geographic Data Files Overall data specification (GDF 4.0), International Standards Organisation, Genève.
- Janssen, S.T.M.C. (2003). Het gebruik van de verkeersveiligheidsverkenner in de regio. Stichting Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek Verkeersveiligheid (SWOV), Draft report, Leidschendam.

- Joksch, H.C. (1993). Velocity change and fatality risk in a crash a rule of thumb. Accident Analysis and Prevention, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 103-104.
- Kaplan, S., Garrick, B.J. (1981). On the quantitative definition of risk. Risk Analysis, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 11-27.
- Karlaftis, M.G., Golias, I. (2002). Effects of road geometry and traffic volumes on rural roadway accident rates. Accident Analysis and Prevention, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 357-365.
- Khan, F.I., Sadiq, R., Husain, T. (2002). GreenPro-I: a risk-based life cycle assessment and decision making methodology for process plant design. Environmental Modelling and Software, vol. 17, pp. 669-692.
- Klir, G.J., Clair, U.S., Yuan, B. (1997). Fuzzy set theory: foundations and applications. PTR Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ.
- Koornstra, M.J., Mathijssen, M.P.M., Mulder, J.A.G., Roszbach, R., Wegman, F.C.M. (1992). Naar een duurzaam veilig wegverkeer. Stichting Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek Verkeersveiligheid (SWOV), Leidschendam.
- Koornstra, M.J., Lynam, D., Nilsson, G., Noordzij, P., Petterson, H.E., Wegman, F.C.M., Wouters, P. (2002). SUNflower: a comparative study of the development of road safety in Sweden, the United Kingdom, and the Netherlands. Stichting Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek Verkeersveiligheid (SWOV), Leidschendam.
- Kraay, J.H., Van der Horst, A.R.A., Oppe, S. (1986). Handleiding conflictobservatietechniek DOCTOR (Dutch Objective Conflict Technique for Operation and Research). Stichting Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek Verkeersveiligheid (SWOV), Leidschendam.
- Kulmala, R. (1995). Safety at rural three- and four-arm junctions: development and application of accident prediction models. Doctoral thesis, Technical Research Centre of Finland (VTT), Espoo.
- Lay, M.G. (1991). Handbook of road technology, Volume 2: Traffic and transport (2nd edition). Gordon and Breach Science Publishers, New York.
- Lee, S.E., Olsen, E.C.B., Wierwille, W.W. (2004). A comprehensive examination of naturalistic lane-changes. Virginia Tech Transportation Institute, Blacksburg, VA.
- Lichfield, N. (1956). The economics of planned development. London.
- Lichfield, N. (1964). Cost-benefit analysis in plan evaluation. Town Planning Review, vol. 35, pp. 159-69.
- Lin, C.-T., Yang, S.-Y. (1999). Selection of home mortgage loans using grey relational analysis. The Journal of Grey System, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 359-368.
- Liu, S., Lin, Y. (1998). An introduction to grey systems: foundations, methodology and applications, IIGSS Academic Publisher, Slippery Rock, PA.
- Lord, D. Washington, S., Ivan, J.N. (2007). Further notes on the application of zero-inflated models in highway safety. Accident Analysis and Prevention, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 53-57.
- Lu, M., Van der Heijden, R., Wevers, K. (2003). Traffic safety from road infrastructure to ITS. In Proceedings: 10th World Congress on Intelligent Transport Systems and Services, Paper TP2703, Madrid.
- Lu, M. (2006). Modelling the effects of road traffic safety measures. Accident Analysis and Prevention, vol. 38, no. 3, pp. 507-517.
- Lu, M., Hegyi, A., Wevers, K. (2006). Perspective of mitigating shock waves by temporary in-vehicle dynamic speed control. In Proceedings: 85th Transportation Research Board Annual Meeting, Paper 06-1753, Washington D.C.
- Lu, M., Wevers, K. (2006). Modelling and assessing the effects of road traffic safety measures. In Proceedings: FISITA World Automotive Congress, Paper F2006D015, Yokohama.
- Ma, X., Andréasson, I. (2005). Predicting the effect of various ISA penetration grades on pedestrian safety by simulation. Accident Analysis and Prevention, vol. 37, no.6, pp. 1162-1169.
- Miaou, S.P., Lum, H. (1993). Modeling vehicle accidents and highway geometric design relationships. Accident Analysis and Prevention, vol. 25, no. 6, pp. 689-709.
- Miaou, S.P. (1994). The relationship between truck accidents and geometric design of road sections: Poisson versus negative binomial regressions. Accident Analysis and Prevention, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 471-482.
- Morán, J., Granada, E., Míguez, J.L., Porteiro, J. (2006). Use of grey relational analysis to assess and optimize small biomass boilers. Fuel Processing Technology, vol. 87, pp. 123-127.
- Nielsen, M.K., Boroch, T. (2001). INFATI, Brugertest effekt og accept. Notat 6, Trafikforskningsgruppen, Aalborg Universitet, Aalborg.
- Nilsson, G. (2004). Traffic safety dimensions and the power model to describe the effect of speed on safety. Doctoral thesis, Lund University, Lund.
- Ogden, K.W. (1996). Safer roads: a guide to road safety engineering. Avebury Technical, Aldershot.
- Oppe, S. (Ed.) (1993). Framework for retrospective traffic safety analysis, Part A: Guidances. HOPES (Horizontal Project for the Evaluation of Safety), DRIVE II Project V2002, Deliverable D7A, Brussels.
- Peden, M., Scurfield, R., Sleet, D., Mohan, D., Hyder, A.A., Jarawan, E., Mathers, C. (2004). World report on road traffic injury prevention. World Health Organization (WHO), Geneva.
- Peltola, H., Kulmala, R. (2000). Weather related intelligent speed adaptation experience from a simulator from vision to reality. In Proceedings: 7th World Congress on Intelligent Transport Systems, Turin.
- Peltola, H., Tapio, J., Raijamäki, R. (2004). Intelligent speed adaptation (ISA) recording ISA in Finland. In Proceedings: Via Nordica Congress, Copenhagen.
- Poppe, F., Muizelaar, J. (1996). Financiering van een duurzaam-veilig wegverkeerssysteem. Stichting Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek Verkeersveiligheid (SWOV), Report R-96-49, Leidschendam.
- PReVENT Consortium (2003). Annex I Description of work (annex to the contract with the Commission of the European Communities), PReVENT Consortium, Brussels. (restricted)
- Regan, M A., Young, K., Haworth, N. (2002). Intelligent speed adaptation for light and heavy vehicles. Monash University Accident Research Centre, Clayton, Victoria.
- Ribeiro, R.A., Moreira, A.M.D., Declercq, E. (2003). A fuzzy evaluation model: a case for intermodal terminals in Europe. In: Yu, X. & Kacrpzyk, J. (Eds.), Applied Decision Support With Soft Computing. Springer, Berlin.
- Risser, R. (1985). Behaviour in traffic conflict situations. Accident Analysis and Prevention, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 179-197.
- Roy, B. (1968). Classement et choix en présence de critères multiples (la méthode ELEC-TRE). RIRO, vol. 8, pp. 57-75.
- Rumar, K. (1988). Collective risk but individual safety. Ergonomics, vol. 31, pp. 507-518.
- Saaty, T.L. (1980). The analytic hierarchy process. McGraw-Hill, New York.
- Saaty, T.L. (1995). Decision making for leaders: the analytic hierarchy process for decisions in a complex world. RWS Publications, Pittsburgh, PA.
- SAFESPOT Consortium (2005). Annex I Description of work (annex to the contract with the Commission of the European Communities). SAFESPOT Consortium, Turin. (restricted)
- Sauvagnac, P., Olivero, P. (2002). Project LAVIA: plan de traitement des données issues de mesures automatiques et systématiques. CETE du Sud-Ouest, Bordeaux.
- Shankar, V., Milton, J., Mannering, F. (1997). Modeling accident frequencies as zero-altered probability processes: an empirical inquiry. Accident Analysis and Prevention, vol. 29, no. 6, pp. 829-837.

- SVV-II (1990). Tweede structuurschema verkeer en vervoer, deel D: regeringsbeslissing. Sdu Uitgeverij, Den Haag.
- Tampère, C.M.J. (2004). Human-kinetic multiclass traffic flow theory and modelling: with application to advanced driver assistance systems in congestion. Doctoral thesis, Delft University of Technology, Delft.
- Tango, F., Saroldi, A. (2001). Final project report. IN-ARTE Project TR 4014, Deliverable D1.1, IN-ARTE Consortium, Turin. (restricted)
- Tingvall, C. (1997). The Zero Vision: a road transport system free from serious health losses. In: Holst, H. von, Nygren, Å. & Thord, R. (Eds.), Transportation, Traffic Safety and Health. Springer, Berlin, pp. 37-57.
- Toledo, T. (2007). Driving behaviour: models and challenges. Transport Reviews, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 65-84.
- Trilling, D.R. (1978). A cost-effectiveness evaluation of highway safety countermeasures. Traffic Quarterly, vol. 32, pp. 41-67.
- UK Parliament (1992). Traffic calming act 1992 (c. 30). UK Parliament, London.
- Vägverket (1997). Nollvisionen, fördjupning. Vägverket, Borlänge.
- Várhelyi, A., Hjälmdahl, M., Hydén, C., Draskóczy, M. (2004). Effects of an active accelerator pedal on driver behaviour and traffic safety after long-term use in urban areas. Accident Analysis and Prevention, vol. 36, pp. 729-737.
- Vlassenroot, S., Broekx, S., De Mol, J., Int Panis, L., Brijs, T., Wets, G. (2007). Driving with intelligent speed adaptation: final results of the Belgian ISA-trial. Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice, vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 267-279.
- Wang. P., Alba, J.D. (2006). A zero-inflated negative binomial regression model with hidden Markov chain. Economics Letters, vol. 92, no. 2, pp. 209-213.
- Ward, H., Allsop, R., Turner, B., Evans, A. (2003). A review of the delivery of the road safety strategy, Stage 1 scoping study. Centre for Transport Studies, University College London and Babtie Group Limited, London.
- Wegman, F., Aarts, L. (Eds.) (2006). Advancing sustainable safety. Stichting Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek Verkeersveiligheid (SWOV), Leidschendam.
- Wen, K.-L., Chang-Jian, S.-K, Ye, Z.-K., Wang, J.-W., Lin, H.-S. (2006). Use of Matlab in grey system applications. Chuan Hwa Publisher, Taipei.
- Wesemann, P. (2000). Verkeersveiligheidsanalyse van het concept-NVVP Deel 2: Kosten en kosteneffectiviteit. Stichting Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek Verkeersveiligheid (SWOV), Report D-2000-09 II, Leidschendam.
- Wevers, K., Lu, M. (2007). Static, temporary and dynamic speed limit information for invehicle speed assistance systems. In Proceedings: 86th Transportation Research Board Annual Meeting, Paper 07-0458, Washington D.C.
- Winsum, W. van, De Waard, D., Brookhuis, K. (1999). Lane change manoeuvres and safety margins. Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, vol. 2, pp. 139-149.
- Wong, C.-C., Chen, C.-C. (2000). Gain scheduling of grey prediction fuzzy control systems. International Journal of Fuzzy Systems, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 198-204.
- Wu, J.H., Chen, C.-B. (1999). An alternative form for grey relational grades. The Journal of Grey System, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 7-12.
- Yoon, K.-P., Hwang, C.-L. (1995). Multiple attribute decision making: an introduction. Sage Publications, London.
- Zadeh, L. (1965). Fuzzy sets. Information and Control, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 338-353.
- Zhou, C., Deng, J. (1989). Stability analysis of grey discrete-time systems. IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 173-175.

## **Appendix 1 - GRA calculation procedure for the example of Paper IV**

This example provides a detailed explanation of the implementation of the nine steps of the procedure (described in Section 7.6) of the application of the GRA method. The example illustrates a policy evaluation of safety strategies at national level for The Netherlands, and is taken from Paper IV. In this case nine alternatives (or strategic scenarios)  $a_i$  (i = 1, 2, ..., 9) and fifteen attributes k (k = 1, 2, ..., 15) are taken into account (step 1), and operational value descriptions for the attributes are identified (step 2). Then, an evaluation matrix  $i \times k$  is established (step 3). For each cell in this evaluation matrix input data are provided (see Table A1.1, except the last column).

In step 4, each alternative (implementation strategies of driving assistance and/or road infrastructure redesign) is taken as a compared series, and an additional vector, the reference series, is created from the set of compared series, based on the characteristics of the attributes. The largest value of attributes k = 1,2,...,12 (maximum value attributes), and the smallest value of attributes k = 13,14,15 (minimum value attributes) are taken to generate a reference series  $a_0$  (see the last column of Table A1.1).

Table A1.1 - Evaluation matrix with	original input d	lata of each	compared se	eries (the a	alterna-
tives), and the reference	e series (RS)				

				alternati	ves (compa	red series)				RS
attribute	$a_1$	$a_2$	$a_3$	$a_4$	$a_5$	$a_6$	$a_7$	$a_8$	$a_9$	$a_0$
k = 1	14.20	5.60	19.81	16.15	6.22	25.26	16.55	6.38	22.93	25.26
k = 2	15.88	26.03	45.69	16.67	27.85	51.40	17.47	29.15	46.62	51.40
<i>k</i> = 3	22.55	15.41	40.19	23.68	16.49	45.21	24.81	17.26	42.07	45.21
k = 4	1	2	2	7	8	9	6	7	7	9
<i>k</i> = 5	1	1	1	9	9	10	8	8	8	10
<i>k</i> = 6	0.00	0.00	0.00	10.00	9.00	12.00	9.00	8.00	9.00	12.00
k = 7	1	1	1	3	4	5	2	3	3	5
k = 8	2	2	2	1	1	3	2	2	2	3
k = 9	2	1	1	10	10	10	7	7	7	10
<i>k</i> = 10	0.00	0.00	0.00	16.00	12.00	14.00	16.00	12.00	14.00	16.00
<i>k</i> = 11	0.00	0.00	0.00	10.00	8.00	9.00	10.00	8.00	9.00	10.00
<i>k</i> = 12	5	6	6	4	5	5	4	5	5	6
<i>k</i> = 13	1	1	1	2	2	8	2	2	2	1
<i>k</i> = 14	6	6	6	5	5	9	5	5	5	5
<i>k</i> = 15	1632.00	3215.00	4847.00	4500.00	6056.00	15056.00	6056.00	9183.00	10739.00	1632.00

As step 5 of the procedure, the linear data approach is applied, a normalisation method developed by Wu and Chen (1999), for data pre-processing by using formulae (7.1a) and (7.1b). The result is presented in Table A1.2.

In the following step 6, the absolute difference between the reference series and each compared series is calculated by using formula (7.2) for each alternative i. Table A1.3 presents the result.

In step 7, based on formula (7.3) the grey relational coefficient  $\gamma(x_0(k), x_i(k))$  of attribute k is calculated for each alternative  $a_i$  (i = 1, 2, ..., 9). The result is shown in Table A1.4.

				alternativ	es (compar	red series)				RS
attribute	$a_1$	$a_2$	$a_3$	$a_4$	$a_5$	$a_6$	$a_7$	$a_8$	$a_9$	$a_0$
<i>k</i> = 1	0.4374	0.0000	0.7228	0.5366	0.0315	1.0000	0.5570	0.0397	0.8815	1.0000
k = 2	0.0000	0.2858	0.8392	0.0222	0.3370	1.0000	0.0448	0.3736	0.8654	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 3	0.2396	0.0000	0.8315	0.2775	0.0362	1.0000	0.3154	0.0621	0.8946	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 4	0.0000	0.1250	0.1250	0.7500	0.8750	1.0000	0.6250	0.7500	0.7500	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 5	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.8889	0.8889	1.0000	0.7778	0.7778	0.7778	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 6	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.8333	0.7500	1.0000	0.7500	0.6667	0.7500	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 7	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.5000	0.7500	1.0000	0.2500	0.5000	0.5000	1.0000
k = 8	0.5000	0.5000	0.5000	0.0000	0.0000	1.0000	0.5000	0.5000	0.5000	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 9	0.1111	0.0000	0.0000	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	0.6667	0.6667	0.6667	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 10	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	1.0000	0.7500	0.8750	1.0000	0.7500	0.8750	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 11	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	1.0000	0.8000	0.9000	1.0000	0.8000	0.9000	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 12	0.5000	1.0000	1.0000	0.0000	0.5000	0.5000	0.0000	0.5000	0.5000	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 13	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	0.8571	0.8571	0.0000	0.8571	0.8571	0.8571	0.0000
<i>k</i> = 14	0.7500	0.7500	0.7500	1.0000	1.0000	0.0000	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	0.0000
<i>k</i> = 15	1.0000	0.8821	0.7605	0.7864	0.6704	0.0000	0.6704	0.4375	0.3216	0.0000

Table A1.2 - Normalised data of each compared series and the reference series (RS)

Table A1.3 - Difference, for each compared series, between the compared series and the reference series (after normalisation)

				alternativ	es (compar	red series)			
attribute	$a_1$	$a_2$	$a_3$	$a_4$	$a_5$	$a_6$	$a_7$	$a_8$	$a_9$
k = 1	0.5626	1.0000	0.2772	0.4634	0.9685	0.0000	0.4430	0.9603	0.1185
k = 2	1.0000	0.7142	0.1608	0.9778	0.6630	0.0000	0.9552	0.6264	0.1346
k = 3	0.7604	1.0000	0.1685	0.7225	0.9638	0.0000	0.6846	0.9379	0.1054
k = 4	1.0000	0.8750	0.8750	0.2500	0.1250	0.0000	0.3750	0.2500	0.2500
k = 5	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	0.1111	0.1111	0.0000	0.2222	0.2222	0.2222
k = 6	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	0.1667	0.2500	0.0000	0.2500	0.3333	0.2500
k = 7	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	0.5000	0.2500	0.0000	0.7500	0.5000	0.5000
k = 8	0.5000	0.5000	0.5000	1.0000	1.0000	0.0000	0.5000	0.5000	0.5000
k = 9	0.8889	1.0000	1.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.3333	0.3333	0.3333
k = 10	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	0.0000	0.2500	0.1250	0.0000	0.2500	0.1250
<i>k</i> = 11	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	0.0000	0.2000	0.1000	0.0000	0.2000	0.1000
k = 12	0.5000	0.0000	0.0000	1.0000	0.5000	0.5000	1.0000	0.5000	0.5000
<i>k</i> = 13	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	0.8571	0.8571	0.0000	0.8571	0.8571	0.8571
<i>k</i> = 14	0.7500	0.7500	0.7500	1.0000	1.0000	0.0000	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 15	1.0000	0.8821	0.7605	0.7864	0.6704	0.0000	0.6704	0.4375	0.3216

If the weights of the grey relational coefficients  $\gamma(x_0(k), x_i(k))$  (i = 1, 2, ..., 9) for all attributes (k = 1, 2, ..., 15) are equal, then the weight of  $\gamma(x_0(k), x_i(k))$  is  $w_0 = 1/15$  for each attribute (see Table A1.5). In Paper IV another three additional sets of weights are used for sensitivity analysis, which, for illustration are included in Table A1.5.

Finally, in step 8 the grey relational grade  $\Gamma_{0i}$  for each alternative  $a_i$  (i = 1, 2, ..., 9) is calculated by using formula (7.4), and in step 9 the ranking of the grey relational grades provides the evaluation result: the larger the value of the grey relational grade, the better the alternative (see Table A1.6). In Paper IV, a sensitivity analysis is performed by varying the attribute weights (see Table A1.5) and attribute values. Two attribute values are taken into account: costs and safety effects of driving assistance systems, which are estimated at low, medium and high level respectively. The example given in this appendix is based on the values of both costs and safety effects at the medium level. Note that the example in Paper IV is based on the values of costs at the medium level, and of safety effects at the high level. Furthermore, note that in Paper IV, in the GRA evaluation results, the ranking number of scenario S7 should be "6" (instead of "5"), and the ranking number of scenario S8 should be "5" (instead of "6").

				alternative	es (compare	ed series)			
attribute	$a_1$	$a_2$	$a_3$	$a_4$	$a_5$	$a_6$	$a_7$	$a_8$	$a_9$
<i>k</i> = 1	0.3200	0.2500	0.3915	0.3417	0.2540	0.5000	0.3465	0.2551	0.4470
k = 2	0.2500	0.2917	0.4308	0.2528	0.3047	0.5114	0.2587	0.3117	0.4495
<i>k</i> = 3	0.2840	0.2500	0.4279	0.2903	0.2546	0.5000	0.2968	0.2580	0.4523
k = 4	0.2500	0.2667	0.2667	0.4000	0.5000	0.5714	0.4000	0.4444	0.4444
<i>k</i> = 5	0.2500	0.2500	0.2500	0.4500	0.4500	0.5000	0.4091	0.4091	0.4091
<i>k</i> = 6	0.2500	0.2500	0.2500	0.4286	0.4000	0.5000	0.4000	0.3750	0.4000
k = 7	0.2500	0.2500	0.2500	0.3333	0.4000	0.5000	0.2857	0.3333	0.3333
k = 8	0.3333	0.3333	0.3333	0.2500	0.2500	0.5000	0.3333	0.3333	0.3333
<i>k</i> = 9	0.2647	0.2500	0.2500	0.5000	0.5000	0.5000	0.3750	0.3750	0.3750
<i>k</i> = 10	0.2500	0.2500	0.2500	0.5000	0.4000	0.4444	0.5000	0.4000	0.4444
<i>k</i> = 11	0.2500	0.2500	0.2500	0.5000	0.4167	0.4545	0.5000	0.4167	0.4545
<i>k</i> = 12	0.3333	0.5000	0.5000	0.2500	0.3333	0.3333	0.2500	0.3333	0.3333
<i>k</i> = 13	0.2500	0.2500	0.2500	0.2692	0.2692	0.5000	0.2692	0.2692	0.2692
<i>k</i> = 14	0.2857	0.2857	0.2857	0.2500	0.2500	0.5000	0.2500	0.2500	0.2500
<i>k</i> = 15	0.2500	0.2657	0.2840	0.2799	0.3221	0.5668	0.3221	0.3789	0.4154

Table A1.4 - Grey relational coefficient  $\gamma(x_0(k), x_i(k))$  of attribute k for alternative i

Table A1.5 - Weights for the grey relational coefficient  $\gamma(x_0(k), x_i(k))$  for each attribute k

k	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
$w_0$	1/15	1/15	1/15	1/15	1/15	1/15	1/15	1/15	1/15	1/15	1/15	1/15	1/15	1/15	1/15
$w_1$	0.24	0.24	0.24	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.17
$W_2$	0.19	0.19	0.19	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.17	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.16
$W_3$	0.18	0.18	0.18	0.19	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.17

Table A1.6 - Grey relational grade  $\Gamma_{0i}$  of each alternative *i* 

					alternatives	3			
	$a_1$	$a_2$	$a_3$	$a_4$	$a_5$	$a_6$	$a_7$	$a_8$	$a_9$
$\Gamma_{0i}(w_0)$	0.2714	0.2795	0.3113	0.3531	0.3536	0.4921	0.3464	0.3429	0.3874
rank $(w_0)$	9	8	7	4	3	1	5	6	2
$\Gamma_{0i}(w_1)$	0.2771	0.2665	0.3797	0.3012	0.2916	0.5121	0.3109	0.3018	0.4348
rank $(w_1)$	8	9	3	6	7	1	4	5	2
$\Gamma_{0i}(w_2)$	0.2853	0.2776	0.3677	0.2942	0.2878	0.5109	0.3160	0.3101	0.4165
rank $(w_2)$	8	9	3	6	7	1	4	5	2
$\Gamma_{0i}(w_3)$	0.2709	0.2670	0.3527	0.3202	0.3328	0.5243	0.3288	0.3323	0.4339
rank $(w_3)$	8	9	3	7	4	1	6	5	2

## **Appendix 2 - GRA calculation procedure for the example of Paper V**

This example provides a detailed explanation of the implementation of the nine steps of the procedure (described in Section 7.6) of the application of the GRA method, for an extra-urban road in The Netherlands, and is taken from Paper V. In this case six alternatives (or strategic scenarios)  $a_i$  (i = 1, 2, ..., 6) and forty evaluation attributes k (k = 1, 2, ..., 40) are selected (step 1), and operational value descriptions for the attributes are identified (step 2). Then, an evaluation matrix  $i \times k$  is established (step 3). For each cell in this evaluation matrix input data are provided (see Table A2.1, except the last column).

In step 4, each scenario is taken as a compared series, and an additional vector, the reference series, is created from each compared series, based on the characteristics of the attributes. The largest value of attributes k = 1, 2, ..., 37 (maximum value attributes), and the smallest value of attributes k = 38, 39, 40 (minimum value attributes) are taken to generate a reference series  $a_0$  (see the last column of Table A2.1).

In step 5 the linear data approach, a normalisation method developed by Wu and Chen (1999), is applied for data pre-processing, by using the formulae (7.1a) and (7.1b). The result is presented in Table A2.2.

The following step 6 is to calculate the absolute difference between the reference series and each compared series by using formula (7.2) for each alternative *i*. Table A2.3 presents the result.

In step 7, based on formula (7.3) the grey relational coefficients  $\gamma(x_0(k), x_i(k))$  of attribute k for each alternative  $a_i$  (i = 1, 2, ..., 6) are calculated. The result is shown in Table A2.4 (except the bottom two lines).

In step 8 the grey relational grade  $\Gamma_{0i}$  of each alternative  $a_i$  (i = 1, 2, ..., 6) is calculated by using formula (7.4). In this case, weights of grey relational coefficient  $\gamma$  ( $x_0(k), x_i(k)$ ) (i = 1, 2, ..., 6) for all attributes are assumed equal, and no further sensitivity analysis is carried out. And in step 9 the ranking provides the evaluation result: the larger the value of the grey relational grade, the better the alternative (see Table A2.4 two lines at the bottom).

		alter	rnatives (co	ompared set	ries)		RS
attribute	$a_1$	$a_2$	$a_3$	$a_4$	$a_5$	$a_6$	$a_0$
<i>k</i> = 1	18.34	25.40	33.00	36.30	33.00	36.30	36.30
<i>k</i> = 2	25.40	35.20	46.10	47.02	46.10	47.02	47.02
<i>k</i> = 3	7.20	8.30	8.50	13.90	8.50	13.90	13.90
<i>k</i> = 4	9.80	11.80	12.10	18.50	12.10	18.50	18.50
<i>k</i> = 5	17.42	24.13	22.94	28.61	22.94	22.94	28.61
<i>k</i> = 6	24.13	33.44	33.38	34.94	33.38	33.38	34.94
<i>k</i> = 7	17.90	17.90	0.70	1.15	0.70	17.90	17.90
<i>k</i> = 8	24.80	24.80	1.40	1.50	1.40	24.80	24.80
<i>k</i> = 9	8.25	11.42	23.96	27.11	23.73	27.11	27.11
<i>k</i> = 10	11.43	15.84	33.93	37.08	33.61	37.08	37.08
<i>k</i> = 11	7.20	7.92	8.50	10.20	8.50	10.20	10.20
<i>k</i> = 12	9.80	10.29	12.10	14.52	12.10	14.52	14.52
<i>k</i> = 13	8.25	11.42	23.96	27.11	23.73	27.11	27.11
<i>k</i> = 14	11.43	15.84	33.93	37.08	33.61	37.08	37.08
<i>k</i> = 15	14.00	14.28	18.30	21.19	18.30	21.19	21.19
<i>k</i> = 16	20.00	20.40	26.10	24.10	26.10	24.10	26.10
<i>k</i> = 17	53.00	53.00	30.00	30.00	53.00	53.00	53.00
<i>k</i> = 18	75.00	75.00	42.00	42.00	75.00	75.00	75.00
<i>k</i> = 19	6.20	6.90	1.10	1.21	1.10	6.90	6.90
k = 20	9.20	10.20	1.10	1.11	1.10	10.20	10.20
<i>k</i> = 21	18.34	25.40	22.60	25.85	22.60	22.60	25.85
<i>k</i> = 22	25.40	35.20	32.10	36.38	32.10	32.10	36.38
<i>k</i> = 23	6.70	8.30	10.00	13.90	8.90	10.00	13.90
<i>k</i> = 24	9.90	11.80	13.30	18.50	11.80	13.30	18.50
<i>k</i> = 25	53.00	53.00	30.00	30.00	30.00	53.00	53.00
<i>k</i> = 26	75.00	75.00	42.00	42.00	42.00	75.00	75.00
<i>k</i> = 27	7.37	9.13	11.20	15.29	9.79	11.20	15.29
<i>k</i> = 28	10.89	12.98	14.63	20.35	12.98	14.63	20.35
<i>k</i> = 29	2	3	8	9	8	7	9
<i>k</i> = 30	2	1	9	10	8	7	10
<i>k</i> = 31	0.00	0.00	0.90	1.20	1.00	0.90	1.20
<i>k</i> = 32	1	1	4	5	3	4	5
<i>k</i> = 33	1	1	4	5	3	4	5
<i>k</i> = 34	2	1	10	10	6	5	10
<i>k</i> = 35	0.00	0.00	1.20	1.40	1.60	1.20	1.60
<i>k</i> = 36	0.00	0.00	0.80	1.05	1.00	0.80	1.05
<i>k</i> = 37	4	4	5	6	6	6	6
<i>k</i> = 38	1	2	3	8	1	3	1
<i>k</i> = 39	1	6	5	9	5	6	1
<i>k</i> = 40	0.92	11.42	8.40	28.45	6.28	11.29	0.92

Table A2.1 - Evaluation matrix with original input data of each compared series (the alternatives), and the reference series (RS)

		alter	rnatives (co	mpared set	ries)		RS
attribute	$a_1$	$a_2$	$a_3$	$a_4$	$a_5$	$a_6$	$a_0$
<i>k</i> = 1	0.0000	0.3931	0.8163	1.0000	0.8163	1.0000	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 2	0.0000	0.4533	0.9574	1.0000	0.9574	1.0000	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 3	0.0000	0.1642	0.1940	1.0000	0.1940	1.0000	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 4	0.0000	0.2299	0.2644	1.0000	0.2644	1.0000	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 5	0.0000	0.5996	0.4933	1.0000	0.4933	0.4933	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 6	0.0000	0.8612	0.8557	1.0000	0.8557	0.8557	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 7	1.0000	1.0000	0.0000	0.0262	0.0000	1.0000	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 8	1.0000	1.0000	0.0000	0.0043	0.0000	1.0000	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 9	0.0000	0.1681	0.8330	1.0000	0.8208	1.0000	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 10	0.0000	0.1719	0.8772	1.0000	0.8647	1.0000	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 11	0.0000	0.2400	0.4333	1.0000	0.4333	1.0000	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 12	0.0000	0.1038	0.4873	1.0000	0.4873	1.0000	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 13	0.0000	0.1681	0.8330	1.0000	0.8208	1.0000	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 14	0.0000	0.1719	0.8772	1.0000	0.8647	1.0000	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 15	0.0000	0.0389	0.5981	1.0000	0.5981	1.0000	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 16	0.0000	0.0656	1.0000	0.6721	1.0000	0.6721	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 17	1.0000	1.0000	0.0000	0.0000	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 18	1.0000	1.0000	0.0000	0.0000	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 19	0.8793	1.0000	0.0000	0.0190	0.0000	1.0000	1.0000
k = 20	0.8901	1.0000	0.0000	0.0011	0.0000	1.0000	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 21	0.0000	0.9401	0.5672	1.0000	0.5672	0.5672	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 22	0.0000	0.8925	0.6102	1.0000	0.6102	0.6102	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 23	0.0000	0.2222	0.4583	1.0000	0.3056	0.4583	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 24	0.0000	0.2209	0.3953	1.0000	0.2209	0.3953	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 25	1.0000	1.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	1.0000	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 26	1.0000	1.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	1.0000	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 27	0.0000	0.2222	0.4836	1.0000	0.3056	0.4836	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 28	0.0000	0.2209	0.3953	1.0000	0.2209	0.3953	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 29	0.0000	0.1429	0.8571	1.0000	0.8571	0.7143	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 30	0.1111	0.0000	0.8889	1.0000	0.7778	0.6667	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 31	0.0000	0.0000	0.7500	1.0000	0.8333	0.7500	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 32	0.0000	0.0000	0.7500	1.0000	0.5000	0.7500	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 33	0.0000	0.0000	0.7500	1.0000	0.5000	0.7500	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 34	0.1111	0.0000	1.0000	1.0000	0.5556	0.4444	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 35	0.0000	0.0000	0.7500	0.8750	1.0000	0.7500	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 36	0.0000	0.0000	0.7619	1.0000	0.9524	0.7619	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 37	0.0000	0.0000	0.5000	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000
<i>k</i> = 38	1.0000	0.8571	0.7143	0.0000	1.0000	0.7143	0.0000
<i>k</i> = 39	1.0000	0.3750	0.5000	0.0000	0.5000	0.3750	0.0000
k = 40	1.0000	0.6186	0.7283	0.0000	0.8053	0.6233	0.0000

Table A2.2 - Normalised data of each compared series and the reference series (RS)

	alternatives (compared series)									
attribute	$a_1$	$a_2$	$a_3$	$a_4$	$a_5$	$a_6$				
<i>k</i> = 1	1.0000	0.6069	0.1837	0.0000	0.1837	0.0000				
<i>k</i> = 2	1.0000	0.5467	0.0426	0.0000	0.0426	0.0000				
<i>k</i> = 3	1.0000	0.8358	0.8060	0.0000	0.8060	0.0000				
<i>k</i> = 4	1.0000	0.7701	0.7356	0.0000	0.7356	0.0000				
<i>k</i> = 5	1.0000	0.4004	0.5067	0.0000	0.5067	0.5067				
<i>k</i> = 6	1.0000	0.1388	0.1443	0.0000	0.1443	0.1443				
<i>k</i> = 7	0.0000	0.0000	1.0000	0.9738	1.0000	0.0000				
<i>k</i> = 8	0.0000	0.0000	1.0000	0.9957	1.0000	0.0000				
<i>k</i> = 9	1.0000	0.8319	0.1670	0.0000	0.1792	0.0000				
<i>k</i> = 10	1.0000	0.8281	0.1228	0.0000	0.1353	0.0000				
<i>k</i> = 11	1.0000	0.7600	0.5667	0.0000	0.5667	0.0000				
<i>k</i> = 12	1.0000	0.8962	0.5127	0.0000	0.5127	0.0000				
<i>k</i> = 13	1.0000	0.8319	0.1670	0.0000	0.1792	0.0000				
<i>k</i> = 14	1.0000	0.8281	0.1228	0.0000	0.1353	0.0000				
<i>k</i> = 15	1.0000	0.9611	0.4019	0.0000	0.4019	0.0000				
<i>k</i> = 16	1.0000	0.9344	0.0000	0.3279	0.0000	0.3279				
<i>k</i> = 17	0.0000	0.0000	1.0000	1.0000	0.0000	0.0000				
<i>k</i> = 18	0.0000	0.0000	1.0000	1.0000	0.0000	0.0000				
<i>k</i> = 19	0.1207	0.0000	1.0000	0.9810	1.0000	0.0000				
<i>k</i> = 20	0.1099	0.0000	1.0000	0.9989	1.0000	0.0000				
<i>k</i> = 21	1.0000	0.0599	0.4328	0.0000	0.4328	0.4328				
<i>k</i> = 22	1.0000	0.1075	0.3898	0.0000	0.3898	0.3898				
<i>k</i> = 23	1.0000	0.7778	0.5417	0.0000	0.6944	0.5417				
<i>k</i> = 24	1.0000	0.7791	0.6047	0.0000	0.7791	0.6047				
<i>k</i> = 25	0.0000	0.0000	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	0.0000				
<i>k</i> = 26	0.0000	0.0000	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	0.0000				
<i>k</i> = 27	1.0000	0.7778	0.5164	0.0000	0.6944	0.5164				
<i>k</i> = 28	1.0000	0.7791	0.6047	0.0000	0.7791	0.6047				
<i>k</i> = 29	1.0000	0.8571	0.1429	0.0000	0.1429	0.2857				
<i>k</i> = 30	0.8889	1.0000	0.1111	0.0000	0.2222	0.3333				
<i>k</i> = 31	1.0000	1.0000	0.2500	0.0000	0.1667	0.2500				
<i>k</i> = 32	1.0000	1.0000	0.2500	0.0000	0.5000	0.2500				
<i>k</i> = 33	1.0000	1.0000	0.2500	0.0000	0.5000	0.2500				
<i>k</i> = 34	0.8889	1.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.4444	0.5556				
<i>k</i> = 35	1.0000	1.0000	0.2500	0.1250	0.0000	0.2500				
<i>k</i> = 36	1.0000	1.0000	0.2381	0.0000	0.0476	0.2381				
<i>k</i> = 37	1.0000	1.0000	0.5000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000				
<i>k</i> = 38	1.0000	0.8571	0.7143	0.0000	1.0000	0.7143				
<i>k</i> = 39	1.0000	0.3750	0.5000	0.0000	0.5000	0.3750				
k = 40	1.0000	0.6186	0.7283	0.0000	0.8053	0.6233				

Table A2.3 - Difference, for each compared series, between the compared series and the reference series (after normalisation)

	alternatives (compared series)							
attribute	$a_1$	$a_2$	$a_3$	$a_4$	$a_5$	$a_6$		
<i>k</i> = 1	0.5000	0.5000	0.7313	1.0000	0.8448	1.0000		
<i>k</i> = 2	0.5000	0.5000	0.9216	1.0000	0.9592	1.0000		
<i>k</i> = 3	0.5000	0.5000	0.5000	1.0000	0.5537	1.0000		
<i>k</i> = 4	0.5000	0.5000	0.5000	1.0000	0.5762	1.0000		
<i>k</i> = 5	0.5000	0.5586	0.5244	1.0000	0.9956	0.9956		
<i>k</i> = 6	0.5000	0.7828	0.8443	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000		
<i>k</i> = 7	1.0000	1.0000	0.5000	0.5066	0.5000	1.0000		
<i>k</i> = 8	1.0000	1.0000	0.5000	0.5011	0.5000	1.0000		
<i>k</i> = 9	0.5000	0.5000	0.7496	1.0000	0.8480	1.0000		
<i>k</i> = 10	0.5000	0.5000	0.8028	1.0000	0.8808	1.0000		
<i>k</i> = 11	0.5000	0.5000	0.5000	1.0000	0.6383	1.0000		
<i>k</i> = 12	0.5000	0.5000	0.5000	1.0000	0.6611	1.0000		
<i>k</i> = 13	0.5000	0.5000	0.7496	1.0000	0.8480	1.0000		
<i>k</i> = 14	0.5000	0.5000	0.8028	1.0000	0.8808	1.0000		
<i>k</i> = 15	0.5000	0.5000	0.5544	1.0000	0.7133	1.0000		
<i>k</i> = 16	0.5000	0.5000	1.0000	0.7531	1.0000	1.0000		
k = 17	1.0000	1.0000	0.5000	0.5000	1.0000	1.0000		
k = 18	1.0000	1.0000	0.5000	0.5000	1.0000	1.0000		
k = 19	0.8923	1.0000	0.5000	0.5048	0.5000	1.0000		
k = 20	0.9010	1.0000	0.5000	0.5003	0.5000	1.0000		
k = 21	0.5000	0.8930	0.6736	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000		
k = 22	0.5000	0.8231	0.6786	1 0000	1 0000	1.0000		
k = 23	0.5000	0.5000	0.5618	1 0000	0.8852	0.9730		
k = 24	0.5000	0.5000	0.5630	1.0000	0.8431	0.9348		
k = 25	1 0000	1 0000	0.5000	0.5000	0.5000	1 0000		
k = 26	1.0000	1.0000	0.5000	0.5000	0.5000	1.0000		
k = 27	0.5000	0.5000	0.5735	1 0000	0.8852	0.9892		
k = 28	0.5000	0.5000	0.5630	1.0000	0.8431	0.9348		
k = 29	0.5000	0.5000	0.7778	1.0000	1 0000	1.0000		
k = 30	0.5294	0.5000	0.8265	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000		
k = 31	0.5291	0.5000	0.6265	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000		
k = 32	0.5000	0.5000	0.6667	1.0000	0.8333	1.0000		
k = 33	0.5000	0.5000	0.6667	1.0000	0.8333	1.0000		
k = 34	0.5000	0.5000	1.0000	1.0000	1 0000	0.9643		
k = 35	0.5204	0.5000	0.6667	0.8421	1.0000	1.0000		
k = 36	0.5000	0.5000	0.6774	1 0000	1.0000	1.0000		
k = 37	0.5000	0.5000	0.5000	1 0000	1.0000	1.0000		
k = 38	0.5000	0.5385	0.5833	1 0000	0.7500	0.8750		
k = 30	0.5000	0.5505	0.5333	1 0000	0.7500	1 0000		
k = 40	0.5000	0.5714	0.5555	1.0000	0.9107	0.0240		
π = 40 Γ	0.5000	0.5050	0.5251	0.8002	0.0309	0.9240		
ronl:	0.3903	5	0.0340	0.0902	0.0233	1		
тапк	0	3	4	2	3	1		

Table A2.4 - Grey relational coefficient  $\gamma(x_0(k), x_i(k))$  of attribute *k* for alternative *i*, and ranking based on grey relational grade  $\Gamma_{0i}$  of each alternative *i*